of multiple products in pipeline, product launch or other product development milestones), geographic business
expansion, cost targets, cost reductions or savings, customer satisfaction, operating efficiency, acquisition or
retention, employee satisfaction, information technology, corporate development (including, without limitation,
licenses, innovation, research or establishment of third party collaborations), manufacturing or process
development, legal compliance or risk reduction, patent application or issuance goals, or goals relating to
acquisitions, divestitures or other business combinations (in whole or in part), joint ventures or strategic
alliances; and (xxx) any other measures of performance selected by the Board.

(mm) “Performance Goals” means, for a Performance Period, the one or more goals established by the
Board for the Performance Period based upon the Performance Criteria. Performance Goals may be based on a
Company-wide basis, with respect to one or more business units, divisions, Affiliates, or business segments, and
in either absolute terms or relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies or the performance
of one or more relevant indices. Unless specified otherwise by the Board (i) in the Award Agreement at the time
the Award is granted or (ii) in such other document setting forth the Performance Goals at the time the
Performance Goals are established, the Board will appropriately make adjustments in the method of calculating
the attainment of Performance Goals for a Performance Period as follows: (1) to exclude restructuring and/or
other nonrecurring charges; (2) to exclude exchange rate effects; (3) to exclude the effects of changes to
generally accepted accounting principles; (4) to exclude the effects of any statutory adjustments to corporate tax
rates; (5) to exclude the effects of items that are “unusual” in nature or occur “infrequently” as determined under
generally accepted accounting principles; (6) to exclude the dilutive effects of acquisitions or joint ventures;

(7) to assume that any business divested by the Company achieved performance objectives at targeted levels
during the balance of a Performance Period following such divestiture; (8) to exclude the effect of any change in
the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company by reason of any stock dividend or split, stock
repurchase, reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination or exchange of shares
or other similar corporate change, or any distributions to common stockholders other than regular cash dividends;
(9) to exclude the effects of stock based compensation and the award of bonuses under the Company’s bonus
plans; (10) to exclude costs incurred in connection with potential acquisitions or divestitures that are required to
be expensed under generally accepted accounting principles; (11) to exclude the goodwill and intangible asset
impairment charges that are required to be recorded under generally accepted accounting principles, (12) to
exclude the effect of any other unusual, non-recurring gain or loss or other extraordinary item and (13) to make
other appropriate adjustments selected by the Board. In addition, the Board retains the discretion to reduce or
eliminate the compensation or economic benefit due upon attainment of Performance Goals and to define the
manner of calculating the Performance Criteria it selects to use for such Performance Period. Partial achievement
of the specified criteria may result in the payment or vesting corresponding to the degree of achievement as
specified in the Stock Award Agreement or the written terms of a Performance Cash Award.

(nn) “Performance Period” means the period of time selected by the Board over which the attainment of
one or more Performance Goals will be measured for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to and the
payment of a Stock Award or a Performance Cash Award. Performance Periods may be of varying and
overlapping duration, at the sole discretion of the Board.

(00) “Performance Stock Award” means a Stock Award granted under the terms and conditions of
Section 6(c)(i).

(pp) “Plan” means this Regulus Therapeutics Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan.

(qq) “Restricted Stock Award” means an award of shares of Common Stock which is granted pursuant to
the terms and conditions of Section 6(a).

(rr) “Restricted Stock Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder of
a Restricted Stock Award evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Award grant. Each

Restricted Stock Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.
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(ss) “Restricted Stock Unit Award” means a right to receive shares of Common Stock which is granted
pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 6(b).

(tt) “Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a
holder of a Restricted Stock Unit Award evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Unit Award
grant. Each Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(uu) “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3,
as in effect from time to time.

(vv) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(ww) “Stock Appreciation Right’ or “SAR” means a right to receive the appreciation on Common Stock
that is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 5.

(xx) “Stock Appreciation Right Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a holder
of a Stock Appreciation Right evidencing the terms and conditions of a Stock Appreciation Right grant. Each
Stock Appreciation Right Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(yy) “Stock Award” means any right to receive Common Stock granted under the Plan, including an
Incentive Stock Option, a Nonstatutory Stock Option, a Restricted Stock Award, a Restricted Stock Unit Award,
a Stock Appreciation Right, a Performance Stock Award or any Other Stock Award.

(zz) “Stock Award Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and a Participant
evidencing the terms and conditions of a Stock Award grant. Each Stock Award Agreement will be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Plan.

(aaa) “Subsidiary” means, with respect to the Company, (i) any corporation of which more than 50% of the
outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such
corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, stock of any other class or classes of such corporation will have
or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the time, directly or indirectly,
Owned by the Company, and (ii) any partnership, limited liability company or other entity in which the Company
has a direct or indirect interest (whether in the form of voting or participation in profits or capital contribution) of
more than 50%.

(bbb) “Ten Percent Stockholder” means a person who Owns (or is deemed to Own pursuant to
Section 424(d) of the Code) stock possessing more than ten percent of the total combined voting power of all

classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate.

(cce) “Transaction” means a Corporate Transaction or a Change in Control.
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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein may contain “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth below under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise. These statements, which represent our current expectations or beliefs
concerning various future events, may contain words such as “may,” “will,” “expect, 7

2 2 ¢

anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,”
“estimate” or other words indicating future results, though not all forward-looking statements necessarily contain these
identifying words. Such statements may include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

+ the initiation, cost, timing, progress and results of, and our expected ability to undertake certain activities and
accomplish certain goals with respect to, our research and development activities, preclinical studies and clinical trials;

*  our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates, and any related restrictions,
limitations, and/or warnings in the label of an approved product candidate;

*  our ability to obtain funding for our operations;

*  our plans to research, develop and commercialize our product candidates;

» the potential election of any strategic alliance or collaboration partner to pursue development and commercialization
of any programs or product candidates that are subject to a collaboration with such partner;

*  our ability to attract collaborators with relevant development, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

« future activities to be undertaken by our strategic alliance partners, collaborators and other third parties;

*  our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product candidates;

» the size and growth potential of the markets for our product candidates, and our ability to serve those markets;

*  our ability to successfully commercialize, and our expectations regarding future therapeutic and commercial potential
with respect to, our product candidates;

+ the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates;

*  our ability to develop sales and marketing capabilities, whether alone or with potential future collaborators;

* regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

+  the performance of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers;

» the success of competing therapies that are or may become available;

+ the loss of key scientific or management personnel;

*  our ability to successfully secure and deploy capital;

*  our ability to satisfy our debt obligations;

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding future expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and need for additional
financing; and

»  the risks and other forward-looking statements described under the caption “Risk Factors” under Part I, Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These
statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this report, and while we believe such information forms
a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to
indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These
statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering and developing first-in-class drugs
targeting microRNAs to treat diseases with significant unmet medical need. We were formed in 2007 when Alnylam
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Alnylam, and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Ionis, contributed significant intellectual property, know-
how and financial and human capital to pursue the development of drugs targeting microRNAs pursuant to a license and
collaboration agreement. Our most advanced product candidates are RG-012 and RGLS4326. RG-012 is an anti-miR targeting
miR-21 for the treatment of Alport syndrome, a life-threatening kidney disease with no approved therapy available. In
November 2018, we and Sanofi agreed to transition further development activities of these miR-21 programs, including our
RG-012 program, to Sanofi, which will be responsible for all costs incurred in the development of our miR
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programs. RGLS4326 is an anti-miR targeting miR-17 for the treatment of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, or
ADPKD. In addition to these clinical programs, we continue to develop a pipeline of preclinical drug product candidates.

microRNAs are naturally occurring ribonucleic acid, or RNA, molecules that play a critical role in regulating key
biological pathways. Scientific research has shown that an imbalance, or dysregulation, of microRNAs is directly linked to
many diseases. Furthermore, many different infectious pathogens interact and bind to host microRNA to survive. To date, over
500 microRNAs have been identified in humans, each of which can bind to multiple messenger RNAs that control key aspects
of cell biology. Since many diseases are multi-factorial, involving multiple targets and pathways, the ability to modulate
multiple pathways by targeting a single microRNA provides a new therapeutic approach for treating complex diseases.

RNA plays an essential role in the process used by cells to encode and translate genetic information from
deoxyribonucleic acid, or DNA, to proteins. RNA is comprised of subunits called nucleotides and is synthesized from a DNA
template by a process known as transcription. Transcription generates different types of RNA, including messenger RNAs that
carry the information for proteins in the sequence of their nucleotides. In contrast, microRNAs are RNAs that do not code for
proteins but rather are responsible for regulating gene expression by modulating the translation and decay of target messenger
RNAs. By interacting with many messenger RNAs, a single microRNA can regulate the expression of multiple genes involved
in the normal function of a biological pathway. Many pathogens, including viruses, bacteria and parasites, also use host
microRNAs to regulate the cellular environment for survival. In some instances, the host microRNAs are essential for the
replication and/or survival of the pathogen. For example, miR-122 is a microRNA expressed in human hepatocytes and is a key
factor for the replication of the hepatitis C virus, or HCV.

We believe that microRNA therapeutics have the potential to become a new and major class of drugs with broad
therapeutic application for the following reasons:

*  microRNAs play a critical role in regulating biological pathways by controlling the translation of many target genes;

*  microRNA therapeutics regulate disease pathways which may result in more effective treatment of complex multi-
factorial diseases;

* many human pathogens, including viruses, bacteria and parasites, use microRNAs (host and pathogen encoded) to enable
their replication and suppression of host immune responses; and

*  microRNA therapeutics may be synergistic with other therapies because of their different mechanism of action.

We have assembled significant expertise in the microRNA field, including expertise in microRNA biology and
oligonucleotide chemistry, a broad intellectual property estate, relationships with key opinion leaders and a disciplined drug
discovery and development process. We are using our microRNA expertise to develop chemically modified, single-stranded
oligonucleotides that we call anti-miRs to modulate microRNAs and address underlying disease. We believe microRNAs may
play a critical role in complex disease and that targeting them with anti-miRs may become a source of a new and major class of
drugs with broad therapeutic application, much like small molecules, biologics and monoclonal antibodies.

We believe that microRNA biomarkers may be used to select optimal patient segments in clinical trials and to monitor
disease progression or relapse. We believe these microRNA biomarkers can be applied toward drugs that we develop and drugs
developed by other companies with which we partner or collaborate.

Development Stage Pipeline

We currently have multiple programs in various stages of clinical development.

RG-012: In May 2017, we completed a Phase I multiple-ascending dose, or MAD, clinical trial in 24 healthy volunteers
(six-week repeat dosing) to determine safety, tolerability and PK of RG-012 prior to chronic dosing in patients. In Phase I
clinical trials to date, RG-012 was well-tolerated, and there were no serious adverse events, or SAEs, reported. In the third
quarter of 2017, we initiated HERA, the Phase II randomized (1:1), double-blinded, placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluating
the safety and efficacy of RG-012 in 40 Alport syndrome patients. In parallel, a renal biopsy study was also initiated in the third
quarter of 2017 to evaluate RG-012 renal tissue pharmacokinetics, or PK, target engagement and downstream effects on
genomic disease biomarkers. In December 2017, we concluded our global ATHENA natural history of disease study.
Preliminary results from the first patients through the renal biopsy study are encouraging, with kidney tissue concentrations
achieved that would be predictive of therapeutic benefit based on animal disease models. In addition, modulation of the target,
miR-21, was observed. RG-012 has received orphan designation in both the United States and Europe. In November 2018, we
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*  extended manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are enrolled in
Medicaid managed care organizations;

»  expanded eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid
coverage to additional individuals and by adding new mandatory eligibility categories for certain individuals with
income at or below 133% of the Federal Poverty Level, thereby potentially increasing manufacturers’ Medicaid
rebate liability;

»  expanded the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program;

* implemented a requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to
physicians;

»  created a licensure framework for follow-on biologic products;

»  created a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct
comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and

» established a Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation at CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery
models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription drug spending.

Some of the provisions of the ACA have yet to be implemented, and there have been judicial and Congressional
challenges to certain aspects of the ACA, as well as recent efforts by the Trump administration to repeal or replace certain
aspects of the ACA. Since January 2017, President Trump has signed two Executive Orders and other directives designed to
delay the implementation of certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise circumvent some of the requirements for health
insurance mandated by the ACA. Concurrently, Congress has considered legislation that would repeal or repeal and replace all
or part of the ACA. While Congress has not passed comprehensive repeal legislation, two bills affecting the implementation of
certain taxes under the ACA have been signed into law. Legislation enacted in 2017, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, or "Tax Act", includes a provision which repealed, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment
imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is
commonly referred to as the “individual mandate”. On January 23, 2018, President Trump signed a continuing resolution on
appropriations for fiscal year 2018 that delayed the implementation of certain ACA-mandated fees, including the so-called
“Cadillac” tax on certain high cost employer-sponsored insurance plans, the annual fee imposed on certain health insurance
providers based on market share, and the medical device excise tax on non-exempt medical devices. In July 2018, CMS
published a final rule permitting further collections and payments to and from certain ACA-qualified health plans and health
insurance issuers under the ACA risk adjustment program in response to the outcome of federal district court litigation
regarding the method CMS uses to determine this risk adjustment. On December 14, 2018, a Texas U.S. District Court Judge
ruled that the ACA is unconstitutional in its entirety because the “individual mandate” was repealed by Congress as part of the
Tax Act. While the Texas U.S. District Court Judge, as well as the Trump administration and CMS, have stated that the ruling
will have no immediate effect pending appeal of the decision, it is unclear how this decision, subsequent appeals, and other
efforts to repeal and replace the ACA will impact the ACA.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes include aggregate
reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year pursuant to the Budget Control Act of 2011, which began in
2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, will remain in effect through 2027 unless additional
Congressional action is taken. The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among other things, further reduced Medicare
payments to several providers, including hospitals and cancer treatment centers and increased the statute of limitations period
for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

Further, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United States of pharmaceutical pricing practices in light
of the rising cost of prescription drugs and biologics. Such scrutiny has resulted in several recent Congressional inquiries and
federal and state legislative activity designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the
relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement
methodologies for products. For example, at the federal level, the Trump administration released a “Blueprint” to lower drug
prices and reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contains additional proposals to increase manufacturer competition, increase
the negotiating power of certain federal healthcare programs, incentivize manufacturers to lower the list price of their products
and reduce the out of pocket costs of drug products paid by consumers. On January 31, 2019, the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services Office of Inspector General proposed modifications to federal Anti-Kickback Statute safe harbors which,
among other things, will affect rebates paid by manufacturers to Medicare Part D plans, the purpose of which is to further
reduce the cost of drug products to consumers. While some of these and other proposed measures may require authorization
through additional legislation to become effective, Congress and the Trump administration have each indicated that it will
continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs. At the state level, legislatures have
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increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing,
including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost
disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.

Additionally, on May 30, 2018, the Trickett Wendler, Frank Mongiello, Jordan McLinn, and Matthew Bellina Right to Try
Act of 2017, or the Right to Try Act, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for
certain patients to access certain investigational new drug products that have completed a Phase I clinical trial and that are
undergoing investigation for FDA approval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without enrolling
in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded access program. There is no obligation for a
pharmaceutical manufacturer to make its drug products available to eligible patients as a result of the Right to Try Act.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing, and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any product candidates for which we obtain
regulatory approval. In the United States and markets in other countries, sales of any products for which we or our collaborators
receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend, in part, on the extent to which third-party payors provide coverage
and establish adequate reimbursement levels for such drug products.

In the United States, third-party payors include federal and state healthcare programs, government authorities, private
managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price,
examining the medical necessity and reviewing the cost-effectiveness of medical drug products and medical services, in addition
to questioning their safety and efficacy. Moreover, the process for determining whether a third-party payor will provide coverage
for a drug product may be separate from the process for setting the price of a drug product or for establishing the reimbursement
rate that such a payor will pay for the drug product. A payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that
an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Further, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a drug product does
not assure that other payors will also provide coverage for the drug product. Adequate third-party reimbursement may not be
available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development.

The marketability of any product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may suffer if the
government and third-party payors fail to provide adequate coverage and reimbursement. In addition, emphasis on managed care
in the United States has increased and we expect will continue to increase the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing. Coverage policies
and third-party reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for
one or more products for which we or our collaborators receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and
reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

Europe / rest of world government regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we and our strategic alliance partners are subject to a variety of regulations
in other jurisdictions governing, among other things, clinical trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products.

Whether or not we or our collaborators obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals from
regulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to the commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those
countries. Certain countries outside of the United States have a similar process that requires the submission of a clinical trial
application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the European Union, for example, a
clinical trial application, or CTA, must be submitted to each country’s national health authority and an independent ethics
committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Once the CTA is approved in accordance with a country’s requirements,
clinical trial development may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary
from country to country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in accordance with GCPs and the applicable regulatory
requirements and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational drug or biological product under European Union regulatory systems,
we or our strategic alliance partners must submit a marketing authorization application. The application in the United States is
similar to that required in the European Union, with the exception of, among other things, country-specific document
requirements.

For other countries outside of the European Union, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the
requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary from country to
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country. In all cases, again, the clinical trials are conducted in accordance with GCPs and the applicable regulatory
requirements and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

If we or our strategic alliance partners fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject
to, among other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we had 24 full-time employees. Of these employees, 16 employees are engaged in research
and development activities and 8 employees are engaged in finance, legal, human resources, facilities and general management.
We have no collective bargaining agreements with our employees and we have not experienced any work stoppages.

Corporate Information

We were originally formed as a limited liability company under the name Regulus Therapeutics LLC in the State of
Delaware in September 2007. In January 2009, we converted Regulus Therapeutics LLC to a Delaware corporation and
changed our name to Regulus Therapeutics Inc. Our principal executive offices are located in San Diego, California and our
telephone number is (858) 202-6300.

We maintain a website at www.regulusrx.com, to which we regularly post copies of our press releases as well as
additional information about us. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, are available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains our public
filings with the SEC and other information regarding the Company, at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are not
incorporated into this Annual Report. Further, our references to the URLSs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual
reference only.

The Regulus Therapeutics logo is a trademark of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. We use “Regulus Therapeutics” as a
trademark in the United States and other countries. We have registered this trademark in the United States, the European Union
and Switzerland. We use “microMarkers” as a servicemark in the United States and other countries. We have registered this
servicemark in the United States. This Annual Report contains references to our trademarks and to trademarks belonging to
other entities. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this Annual Report, including logos, artwork
and other visual displays, may appear without the ® or ™symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way,
that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these
trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply a
relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this
Annual Report. Each of these risk factors, either alone or taken together, could adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock. There may be additional
risks that we do not presently know of or that we currently believe are immaterial which could also impair our business and
financial position.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AND NEED FOR ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

We will need to raise additional capital, and if we are unable to do so when needed, we will not be able to continue as a
going concern.

This Form 10-K includes disclosures regarding management’s assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern
and a report from our independent registered public accounting firm that contains an explanatory paragraph regarding going
concern, as our current liquidity position and recurring losses from operations since inception and negative cash flows from
operating activities raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As of December 31, 2018, we had
$13.9 million of cash and cash equivalents and we had $16.7 million of outstanding debt principal obligations under our Term
Loan with Oxford. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Fourth Amendment, we are required to maintain cash in a collateral
account controlled by the Lender of (i) $10.0 million if we have not received net proceeds of at least $15.0 million from (a) the
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issuance and sale of our unsecured subordinated convertible debt and/or equity securities or (b) upfront or milestone payments
in connection with a joint venture, collaboration or other partnering transaction, other than pursuant to the Sanofi License (the
receipt of such net proceeds, a “Capital Event”), or (ii) $5.0 million if a Capital Event has occurred. We will need to raise
additional capital to fund our operations, service our debt obligations and comply with the cash reserve covenant under our
Loan Agreement with Oxford, and if we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we will not be able to continue as a
going concern.

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is expensive. We expect
our research and development expenses to substantially increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we
advance our product candidates towards or through clinical trials. We will need to raise additional capital to fund our operations
and such funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

As we move future lead compounds through toxicology and other preclinical studies, also referred to as nonclinical
studies, required to file an IND, and as we conduct clinical development of RGLS4326, RGLS5579 and any other future
product candidates, we may have adverse results requiring mitigation strategies that may cause us to consume additional
capital. For example, in July 2018 we voluntarily paused our Phase I MAD clinical trial for RGLS4326 due to unexpected
observations in our 27-week mouse chronic toxicity study, which was designed to support the Phase II proof-of-concept clinical
trial in ADPKD previously planned to start in mid-2019. In consultation with FDA, we initiated a new mouse chronic toxicity
study in September 2018 with certain changes that are believed to address the unexpected observations. In January 2019, we
announced data from a planned interim analysis of this study after 13 weeks of dosing in which no adverse or other significant
findings across the range of doses tested were shown. Based upon our investigation and the interim results, we believe the
unexpected observations from the previously terminated study were likely a result of technical issues at the contract research
organization. In January 2019, we submitted a comprehensive data package for RGLS4326 to the FDA that will include the
results from the planned 13-week interim analysis of the ongoing repeat mouse chronic toxicity study, as well as results from
additional investigations, analytical testing, additional data from the previously terminated mouse chronic toxicity study, data
from the completed Phase I SAD study and data from the first cohort of the Phase I MAD study to support our plan to resume
the Phase I MAD study; however, we cannot be certain FDA will permit the Phase I MAD study to resume based on our
interim analysis. Additionally, our strategic alliance partners may not elect to pursue the development and commercialization of
any of our microRNA product candidates that are subject to their respective strategic alliance agreements with us. Any of these
events may increase our development costs more than we expect. For example, in June 2017, AstraZeneca terminated its
development of RG-125(AZD4076). Upon the effective date of termination, in June 2019, AstraZeneca’s rights to the program
will revert to us and we may decide to continue with its development but will then be responsible for any continuing costs of
development. In November 2018, we and Sanofi agreed to transition further development activities of our miR-21 programs,
including our RG-012 program, to Sanofi, which will be responsible for all costs incurred in the development of our miR-21
programs. As a result, we will not receive royalties in the event our miR-21 programs are eventually commercialized and will
also receive significantly reduced milestones for these programs. We may need to raise additional capital or otherwise obtain
funding through additional strategic alliances if we choose to initiate clinical trials for new product candidates other than
programs currently partnered. In any event, we will require additional capital to obtain regulatory approval for, and to
commercialize, future product candidates.

For the foreseeable future, we expect to rely primarily on equity and/or debt financings to fund our operations. Raising
additional capital through the sale of securities could cause significant dilution to our stockholders. Any additional fundraising
efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates. Our ability to raise additional funds will depend, in part, on the success of our
preclinical studies and clinical trials and other product development activities, regulatory events, our ability to identify and
enter into licensing or other strategic arrangements, and other events or conditions that may affect our value or prospects, as
well as factors related to financial, economic and market conditions, many of which are beyond our control. There can be no
assurances that sufficient funds will be available to us when required or on acceptable terms, if at all. If we are unable to raise
additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we may be required to:

» significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of any future product candidates;

»  seek strategic alliances, or amend existing alliances, for research and development programs at an earlier stage than
otherwise would be desirable or for the development of programs that we otherwise would have sought to develop
independently, or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available;

» dispose of technology assets, or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms, our rights to technologies or any future
product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves;
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*  pursue the sale of our company to a third party at a price that may result in a loss on investment for our stockholders;
or

» file for bankruptcy or cease operations altogether.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects.

Payments under the instruments governing our indebtedness may reduce our working capital. In addition, a default
under our loan and security agreement could cause a material adverse effect on our financial position.

In June 2016, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Oxford. Under the terms of the Loan Agreement,
Oxford provided us with a Term Loan of $20.0 million. Our obligations under the Loan Agreement are secured by a first
priority security interest in substantially all of our current and future assets, except for the Assigned Assets that were licensed,
assigned and transferred to Sanofi pursuant to the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, provided that the Oxford will continue to have
liens on all proceeds received by us pursuant to the Sanofi License. We have also agreed not to encumber our intellectual
property assets, except as permitted by the Loan Agreement. Amounts outstanding under the Term Loan mature on June 1, 2020
and were interest-only through June 1, 2018. On August 6, 2018, we and Oxford entered into an amendment to the parties’
Loan Agreement. Under the terms of the amendment, we were required to make payments of interest-only for an additional
three-month period, from August 2018 through October 2018. Amortization payments commenced in November 2018. On
November 5, 2018 and in connection with the 2018 Sanofi Amendment we entered into the Fourth Amendment with the
Lender. Under the terms of the Fourth Amendment, we are required to prepay part of the Term Loan with 25% of certain
payments we receive under the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, which payments consist of the Upfront Amendment Payments and the
first development milestone payment in the amount of $10.0 million. We will also be required to pay the applicable 5.5% final
payment fee related to each such 2018 Sanofi Amendment prepayment. In addition, we are required to maintain cash in a
collateral account controlled by the Lender of (i) $10.0 million if a Capital Event has not occurred, or (ii) $5.0 million if a
Capital Event has occurred. On January 31, 2019, we and Oxford entered into the Fifth Amendment to the parties’ Loan
Agreement. Under the terms of the Fifth Amendment, our required monthly payment to Oxford for the month of February 2019
was comprised of interest only. On March 7, 2019, we and Oxford entered into the Sixth Amendment to the parties’ Loan
Agreement. Under the terms of the Sixth Amendment, our required monthly payment to Oxford for the month of March 2019
was comprised of interest only. Amortization payments will recommence in April 2019. Payments under the Loan Agreement
could result in a significant reduction of our assets.

The Loan Agreement requires us, and any debt arrangements we may enter into in the future may require us, to comply
with various covenants that limit our ability to, among other things:

»  dispose of assets;

*  complete mergers or acquisitions;

. incur indebtedness;

. encumber assets;

*  pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of our capital stock;
*  make specified investments; and

*  engage in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. If we default under our obligations under the
Loan Agreement, the lender could proceed against the collateral granted to it to secure our indebtedness or declare all
obligation under the Loan Agreement to be due and payable. In certain circumstances, procedures by the lenders could result in
a loss by us of all of our equipment and inventory, which are included in the collateral granted to the lenders. If any
indebtedness under the Loan Agreement were to be accelerated, there can be no assurance that our assets would be sufficient to
repay in full that indebtedness. In addition, upon any distribution of assets pursuant to any liquidation, insolvency, dissolution,
reorganization or similar proceeding, the holders of secured indebtedness will be entitled to receive payment in full from the
proceeds of the collateral securing our secured indebtedness before the holders of other indebtedness or our common stock will
be entitled to receive any distribution with respect thereto.

We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. The debt instruments governing such indebtedness may contain
provisions that are as, or more, restrictive than the provisions governing our existing indebtedness under the Loan Agreement.
If we are unable to repay, refinance or restructure our indebtedness when payment is due, the lenders could proceed against the
collateral or force us into bankruptcy or liquidation.

24



Table of Contents

» establishing the state of Delaware as the sole forum for certain legal actions against the Company, its officers and
directors; and

» establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing
matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with an interested stockholder for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless such transactions are
approved by our board of directors. This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, whether
or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders. Further, other provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or
prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

On February 25, 2019, we entered into a lease agreement (the “New Lease”) with ARE-SD Region No. 44 LLC for the
lease of approximately 24,562 square feet of space located at 10628 Science Center Drive, San Diego, California. The
commencement date of the New Lease is expected to be on or before April 1, 2019 (the “Commencement Date”’). We expect to
use this space as our new principal executive offices and as a laboratory for research and development, manufacturing, and
other related uses. The term of the New Lease is four years three months, ending June 30, 2023 (assuming an April 1, 2019
Commencement Date).

Our lease of approximately 59,248 square feet of space at located 10614 Science Center Drive, San Diego, California will
terminate upon the Commencement Date of the New Lease.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate and our new facilities will be adequate for our current needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On January 31, 2017, a putative class action complaint was filed by Baran Polat in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California, or District Court, against us, Paul C. Grint (our former Chief Executive Officer), and Joseph P.
Hagan (then our Chief Operating Officer and currently our President and Chief Executive Officer). The complaint includes
claims asserted, on behalf of certain purchasers of our securities, under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. In general, the complaint alleges that, between January 21, 2016, and June 27, 2016, the defendants
violated the federal securities laws by making materially false and misleading statements regarding our business and the
prospects for RG-101, thereby artificially inflating the price of our securities. The plaintiff seeks unspecified monetary damages
and other relief. On February 10, 2017, a second putative class action complaint was filed by Li Jin in the District Court against
the Company, Mr. Hagan, Dr. Grint, and Timothy Wright, the Company’s Chief Research and Development Officer. The
Complaint alleges claims similar to those asserted by Mr. Polat. The actions have been related. On February 17, 2017, the
District Court entered an order stating that defendants need not answer, or otherwise respond, until the District Court enters an
order appointing, pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, lead plaintiff and lead counsel, and the
parties then submit a schedule to the District Court for the filing of an amended or consolidated complaint and the timing of
defendants’ answer or response. On April 3, 2017, two motions for consolidation of the two actions, appointment of lead
plaintiff and approval of counsel were filed in the actions, or the Consolidation and Lead Plaintiff Motions. On October 26,
2017, the District Court entered an order consolidating the cases, appointing lead plaintiffs, and appointing lead counsel for
lead plaintiffs. On December 22, 2017, lead plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint against the Company, Dr. Grint, Mr.
Hagan, and Michael Huang (our former Vice President of Clinical Development). The consolidated complaint alleges that
between February 17, 2016 and June 12, 2017, the Defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, by making materially false and misleading statements regarding RG-101. The consolidated complaint
seeks unspecified monetary damages and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs. On February 6, 2018, defendants filed a Motion
to Dismiss the Consolidated Complaint. On March 23, 2018, plaintiff filed their opposition to the motion and on April 24,
2018, defendants filed their response. No hearing date has been set. We intend to vigorously defend this matter.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
PART 11
Item 5. Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Holders of Record

As of March 8, 2019, there were four holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available
funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the growth and development of our business. We do not
intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend
policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of
operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors our board of
directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is currently prohibited by the terms of our loan
agreement with Oxford.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of this Annual
Report.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below is derived from our audited financial statements, including the balance sheets
at December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related statements of operations for each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. The balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014 and the statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are derived from our audited
financial statements that are not included in this Annual Report. The following selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto and Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The selected financial data in this section are
not intended to replace our financial statements and the related notes. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of
our future results. Amounts are in thousands, except per share data.

Year ended December 31,
Statement of operations data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations $ 72 $ 72 $ 1,194 § 20,759 $ 7,669
Loss from operations (46,763) (70,131) (81,502) (54,758) (44,910)
Net loss $ (48,709) $ (71,905) $ (81,836) $ (55,748) $ (56,680)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (559) $ (11.47) $ (18.59) $ (1298) §$ (15.43)
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As of December 31,

Balance sheet data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 13,935 §$ 60,074 $ 76,111 $115,319 * $159,743
Working (deficit) capital (7,351) 34,136 73,667 121,626 129,759
Total assets 27,927 77,809 100,661 141,083 171,480
Term loan 16,575 19,859 19,802 — —
Convertible note payable, at fair value — — — — 23,397
Accumulated deficit (392,723)  (345,858) (273,351) (191,515) (135,767)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (5,854) 35,216 56,075 124,078 132,014

*Includes $1.3 million of restricted cash as of December 31, 2015.
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with “Item 6. Selected Financial Data” and our
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The following discussion contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or
implied in any forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the caption “Item 1A.
Risk Factors.”

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering and developing first-in-class drugs
targeting microRNAs to treat diseases with significant unmet medical need. We were formed in 2007 when Alnylam and Ionis
contributed significant intellectual property, know-how and financial and human capital to pursue the development of drugs
targeting microRNAs pursuant to a license and collaboration agreement. Our most advanced product candidates are RG-012
and RGLS4326. RG-012 is an anti-miR targeting miR-21 for the treatment of Alport syndrome, a life-threatening kidney
disease with no approved therapy available. In November 2018, we and Sanofi agreed to transition further development
activities of our miR-21 programs, including our RG-012 program, to Sanofi, who will be responsible for all costs incurred in
the development of our miR programs. RGLS4326 is an anti-miR targeting miR-17 for the treatment of ADPKD. In addition to
these clinical programs, we continue to develop a pipeline of preclinical drug product candidates.

Since our inception through December 31, 2018, we have relied primarily on the sale of our equity and convertible debt
securities to fund company operations. We have received $300.1 million from the sale of our equity and convertible debt
securities, $87.6 million from our strategic alliances and collaborations, principally from upfront payments, research funding
and preclinical and clinical milestones, and $19.8 million in net proceeds from our Term Loan. As of December 31, 2018, we
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $13.9 million.

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS OVERVIEW
Revenue

Our revenues generally consist of upfront payments for licenses or options to obtain licenses in the future, milestone
payments and payments for other research services under strategic alliance and collaboration agreements.

In the future, we may generate revenue from a combination of license fees and other upfront payments, payments for
research and development services, milestone payments, product sales and royalties in connection with strategic alliances. We
expect that any revenue we generate will fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter as a result of the timing of our achievement of
preclinical, clinical, regulatory and commercialization milestones, if at all, the timing and amount of payments relating to such
milestones and the extent to which any of our products are approved and successfully commercialized by us or our strategic
alliance partners. If our current or future strategic alliance partners do not elect or otherwise agree to fund our development
costs pursuant to our current or future strategic alliance agreements, or we or our strategic alliance partner fails to develop
product candidates in a timely manner or obtain regulatory approval for them, our ability to generate future revenues, and our
results of operations and financial position would be adversely affected.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs associated with our research activities, including our drug discovery
efforts and the development of our therapeutic programs. Our research and development expenses include:
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+ employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, travel and stock-based compensation expense;

+ external research and development expenses incurred under arrangements with third parties, such as contract research
organizations, CROs, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, other clinical trial related vendors, consultants
and our scientific advisors;

e license fees; and

+ facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and
maintenance of facilities, depreciation of leasehold improvements and equipment, and laboratory and other supplies.

We expense research and development costs as incurred. We account for nonrefundable advance payments for goods and
services that will be used in future research and development activities as expenses when the service has been performed or
when the goods have been received. Certain of the raw materials used in the process of manufacturing drug product are
capitalized upon their acquisition and expensed upon usage, as we have determined these materials have alternative future use.

To date, we have conducted research on many different microRNAs with the goal of understanding how they function
and identifying those that might be targets for therapeutic modulation. At any given time we are working on multiple targets,
primarily within our therapeutic areas of focus. Our organization is structured to allow the rapid deployment and shifting of
resources to focus on the most promising targets based on our ongoing research. As a result, in the early phase of our
development programs, our research and development costs are not tied to any specific target. However, we are currently
spending the vast majority of our research and development resources on our lead development programs.

Since our inception, we have spent a total of approximately $345.7 million in research and development expenses
through December 31, 2018.

The process of conducting clinical trials and preclinical studies necessary to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time
consuming. We, or our strategic alliance partners, may never succeed in achieving marketing approval for any of our product
candidates. The probability of success for each product candidate may be affected by numerous factors, including preclinical
data, clinical data, competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability.

Successful development of future product candidates is highly uncertain and may not result in approved products.
Completion dates and completion costs can vary significantly for each future product candidate and are difficult to predict. We
anticipate we will make determinations as to which programs to pursue and how much funding to direct to each program on an
ongoing basis in response to our ability to maintain or enter into new strategic alliances with respect to each program or
potential product candidate, the scientific and clinical success of each future product candidate, as well as ongoing assessments
as to each future product candidate’s commercial potential. We will need to raise additional capital and may seek additional
strategic alliances in the future in order to advance our various programs.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related benefits, including stock-based
compensation, related to our executive, finance, legal, business development and support functions. Other general and
administrative expenses include allocated facility-related costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses
and professional fees for auditing, tax and legal services, some of which are incurred as a result of being a publicly-traded
company.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest income and expense, and various income or expense items of a non-
recurring nature. We earn interest income from interest-bearing accounts and money market funds for cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities, such as interest-bearing bonds, for our short-term investments. Interest expense is primarily
attributable to interest charges associated with borrowings under our secured term loan from Oxford.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the revenues and expenses incurred during
the reported periods. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and
liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.
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While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are most important to understanding and
evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues generally consist of upfront payments for licenses or options to obtain licenses in the future, milestone
payments and payments for other research services under strategic alliance and collaboration agreements.

Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606) (“Topic 606) using the modified retrospective method which consisted of applying and recognizing the
cumulative effect of Topic 606 at the date of initial application. Topic 606 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements
in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605, Revenue Recognition (“Topic 605”). All periods prior to the
adoption date of Topic 606 have not been restated to reflect the impact of the adoption of Topic 606, but are accounted for and
presented under Topic 605. The following paragraphs in this section describe our revenue recognition accounting polices under
Topic 606 upon adoption on January 1, 2018. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 for revenue recognition accounting policies under Topic 605.

We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for
contracts with customers we perform the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the
performance obligation(s) in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligation(s) in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation(s). At
contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract, assess whether each promised good or
service is distinct and identify those that are performance obligations. We recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction
price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

Collaborative Arrangements

We enter into collaborative arrangements with partners that typically include payment to us of one of more of the
following: (i) license fees; (ii) payments related to the achievement of developmental, regulatory, or commercial milestones;
and (iii) royalties on net sales of licensed products. Where a portion of non-refundable up-front fees or other payments received
are allocated to continuing performance obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, they are recorded as
contract liabilities and recognized as revenue when (or as) the underlying performance obligation is satisfied.

As part of the accounting for these arrangements, we must develop estimates and assumptions that require judgment to
determine the underlying stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation which determines how the transaction price
is allocated among the performance obligation(s). The stand-alone selling price may include items such as forecasted revenues,
development timelines, discount rates, and probabilities of technical and regulatory success. We evaluate each performance
obligation to determine if it can be satisfied at a point in time, or over time. In addition, variable consideration must be
evaluated to determine if it is constrained and, therefore, excluded from the transaction price.

License Fees

If a license to our intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in
the arrangement, we recognize revenues from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is
transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other
performance obligations, we use judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether it
is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of
recognizing revenue. We evaluate the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjust the measure of
performance and related revenue recognition.

Milestone Payments
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At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone payments (variable consideration), we evaluate whether the
milestones are considered probable of being reached and estimate the amount to be included in the transaction price. If it is
probable that a milestone event would occur at the inception of an arrangement, the associated milestone value is included in
the transaction price. Milestone payments that are contingent upon the achievement of events that are uncertain or not
controllable, such as regulatory approvals, are generally not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are
received, and therefore not included in the transaction price. The transaction price is then allocated to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which we recognize revenue as or when the performance obligations
under the contract are satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the probability of achievement of such
milestones and any related constraint(s), and if necessary, may adjust our estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such
adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which could affect license, collaboration or other revenues and
earnings in the period of adjustment.

Royalties

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on the level of sales, and for
which the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, we recognize revenue at the later of (i)
when the related sales occur, or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has
been satisfied (or partially satisfied). To date, we have not recognized any royalty revenue resulting from any of our
collaborative arrangements.

Clinical Trial and Preclinical Study Accruals

We make estimates of our accrued expenses for clinical trial and preclinical study activities as of each balance sheet date
in our financial statements based on the facts and circumstances known to us at that time. These accruals are based upon
estimates of costs incurred and fees that may be associated with services provided by clinical trial investigational sites, CROs
and for other clinical trial-related activities. Payments under certain contracts with such parties depend on factors such as
successful enrollment of patients, site initiation and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing for these services,
we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If
possible, we obtain information regarding unbilled services directly from these service providers. However, we may be required
to estimate these services based on other information available to us. If we underestimate or overestimate the activities or fees
associated with a study or service at a given point in time, adjustments to research and development expenses may be necessary
in future periods. Historically, our estimated accrued liabilities have approximated actual expense incurred. Subsequent changes
in estimates may result in a material change in our accruals.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements, refer to the section titled “Recent Accounting
Pronouncements” within “The Business, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of our
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

2018 2017
Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations $ 72 8 72
Research and development expenses 33,975 53,192
General and administrative expenses 12,860 17,011
Interest and other expenses, net (1,884) (1,971)

Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations
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Our revenues are generated from ongoing strategic alliance and collaborations, and generally consist of upfront payments
for licenses or options to obtain licenses in the future, milestone payments and payments for other research services.

Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations was less than $0.1 million for each the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $2.6 million of contract liabilities, which consisted of

payments received through our strategic alliances that have not yet been recognized in accordance with our revenue recognition
policy (Topic 606).

Upon adoption of ASU No 2014-09 and the related supplemental ASUs on January 1, 2018, we reclassified $1.8 million
of contract liabilities into accumulated deficit through the modified retrospective method of adoption.

Research and development expenses

The following table summarizes the components of our research and development expenses for the periods indicated,
together with year-over-year changes (dollars in thousands):

Increase (decrease)

ws 20 a0 2O $ %
Research and development
Personnel and internal expenses $15,790 46% $20,998 39% $ (5,208) (25)%
Third-party and outsourced expenses 15,053 43% 28,615 54%  (13,562) 47)%
Non-cash stock-based compensation 2,256 7% 1,464 3% 792 54 %
Depreciation 876 4% 2,115 4% (1,239) (59)%
Total research and development expenses $33,975 100% $53,192 100% $(19,217) (36)%

Research and development expenses decreased by $19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2017. The aggregate decrease was driven by a $13.6 million decrease in external development
expenses, primarily attributable to the reduction of spend associated with RG-012 during the negotiation and transfer of the
program to Sanofi in the second half of 2018. Additionally, the decrease for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2017 was attributable to a $5.2 million reduction in personnel and internal expenses, driven primarily
by a reduction in costs subsequent our corporate restructurings in May 2017 and July 2018, respectively.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses were $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $17.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2017. This change was primarily driven by severance charges of $1.0 million and non-
cash stock-based compensation charges of $2.7 million recorded for the year ended December 31, 2017 in connection with our
May 2017 corporate restructuring.

Interest and other expenses, net

Net interest and other expenses were $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $2.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017. Net interest and other expense was primarily driven by interest expense associated with our
outstanding secured term loan from Oxford, which we borrowed in June 2016.

56



Table of Contents

Comparison of the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

2017 2016
Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations $ 72 % 1,194
Research and development expenses 53,192 64,305
General and administrative expenses 17,011 18,391
Interest and other (expenses) income, net (1,971) (338)

Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations

The following table summarizes our total revenues for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

2017 2016
Sanofi $ 72 % 72
AstraZeneca $ — 3 1,122
Total revenues under strategic alliances and collaborations $ 72 S 1,194

Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to
$1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Revenue under the AstraZeneca collaboration and license agreement
decreased to zero for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 as a
result of our research period ending in August 2016. As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately $2.0 million of deferred
revenue, which consisted of payments received through our strategic alliances that have not yet been recognized in accordance
with Topic 605.

Research and development expenses

The following table summarizes the components of our research and development expenses for the periods indicated,
together with year-over-year changes (dollars in thousands):

Increase (decrease)

% of % of

2017 {otal 2016 total $ %
Research and development
Personnel and internal expenses $20,998 39% $24,452 38% $ (3,454) 14)%
Third-party and outsourced expenses 28,615 53% 32,430 50% (3,815) (12)%
Non-cash stock-based compensation 1,464 3% 5,458 8% (3,994) (73)%
Depreciation 2,115 5% 1,965 4% 150 8 %
Total research and development expenses $53,192 100% $64,305 100% $(11,113) (17)%

Research and development expenses decreased by $11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2016. This decrease was primarily the result of a reduction in costs subsequent to our May 2017
corporate restructuring. Specifically, reductions in research and development expense were driven by the following: external
development costs decreased by $3.8 million, primarily driven by the wind-down of clinical activities related to the RG-101
program subsequent to the FDA clinical hold. Personnel and internal costs decreased by $3.5 million, primarily attributable to
the reduction in headcount subsequent to our May 2017 corporate restructuring. Non-cash stock-based compensation decreased
by $4.0 million, primarily attributable to the year-over-year decrease in grant date fair value, driven by the change in our stock
price.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses were $17.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $18.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This change was primarily driven by a decrease in non-cash stock-based
compensation of $1.2 million, attributable to a reduction in grant date fair value, and resulting non-cash stock-based
compensation expense, of stock options granted in 2017 versus the comparative period.

Interest and other expense, net

Net interest and other expenses were $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $0.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was primarily driven by interest expense associated with our outstanding $20.0
million secured term loan from Oxford, which we borrowed in June 2016.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a basis which assumes we are a going concern, and does
not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts
and classifications of liabilities that may result from any uncertainty related to our ability to continue as a going concern.

If we are unable to maintain sufficient financial resources, our business, financial condition and results of operations will
be materially and adversely affected. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain the needed financing on
acceptable terms or at all. Additionally, equity or debt financings may have a dilutive effect on the holdings of the Company’s
existing stockholders. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our future capital requirements are difficult to forecast and will depend on many factors, including:

*  whether and when we achieve any milestones under our strategic alliance agreement with Sanofi;

« the terms and timing of any other strategic alliance, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

» the initiation, progress, timing and completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials for our development
programs and product candidates, and associated costs;

*  the number and characteristics of product candidates that we pursue;

»  the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals;

*  delays that may be caused by changing regulatory requirements;

*  the cost and timing of hiring new employees to support our continued growth;

»  the costs involved in filing and prosecuting patent applications and enforcing and defending patent claims;
» the costs and timing of procuring clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates;

» the costs and timing of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

*  the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies; and

*  payments under our Term Loan.
The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities $ (43,273) $ (58,773) $ (56,882)
Investing activities 46,519 13,936 35,311
Financing activities (2,830) 43,415 20,552
Total $ 416 $ (1,422) $ (1,019)

Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities decreased to $43.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to
$58.8 million and $56.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. Net cash used in
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operating activities were primarily attributable to net losses of $48.7 million, $71.9 million and $81.8 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Adjustments for non-cash charges, including stock-based
compensation, decreased to $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $11.1 million and $16.9 million
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Changes in working capital resulted in net cash used in
operating activities of $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and net cash provided by operating activities of $2.0
million and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the periods presented primarily related to the net of purchases, sales and
maturities of investments used to fund the day-to-day needs of our business. Net sales and maturities of investments was $46.5
million, $14.3 million and $36.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Net cash used
for purchases of property and equipment was less than $0.1 million, $0.3 million and $0.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to net cash
provided by financing activities of $43.4 million and $20.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Our 2018 financing activities primarily related to $3.3 million of principal payments on our Term Loan. In 2017,
financing activities included $43.0 million in net proceeds received from our July 2017 public offering. In 2016, financing
activities included $19.8 million in net proceeds from borrowings under our Term Loan.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The following is a summary of our long-term contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):

Payments due by period
Total <1 year 1-3years  3-5years >S5 years
Operating lease obligations relating to facility $ 5,437 $ 1,222 $ 2,358 $ 1,857 $ —
Outstanding secured term loan 16,658 10,540 6,118 — —
Annual maintenance fees for license agreements 428 63 125 125 115
Total $ 22523 § 11,825 § 8,601 § 1,982 $ 115

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2018, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Some of the securities that we invest in have market risk in that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the
principal amount of the marketable securities to fluctuate. Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant
concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. We invest our excess cash
primarily in debt instruments of financial institutions, corporations, U.S. government-sponsored agencies and the U.S. Treasury.
The primary objectives of our investment activities are to ensure liquidity and to preserve principal while at the same time
maximizing the income we receive from our marketable securities without significantly increasing risk. Additionally, we
established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments, which are designed to maintain safety
and liquidity.

Because of the short-term maturities of our cash equivalents and marketable securities, we do not believe that an increase
in market rates would have any significant impact on the realized value of our marketable securities. If a 10% change in interest
rates were to have occurred on December 31, 2018, this change would not have had a material effect on the fair value of our
investment portfolio as of that date.

We also have interest rate exposure as a result of our outstanding $20.0 million secured term loan from Oxford. As of
December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the term loan was $16.7 million. The term loan bears interest at a
floating per annum rate equal to (i) 8.51% plus (ii) the greater of (a) the 30 day U.S. Dollar LIBOR rate reported in The Wall
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Street Journal on the last business day of the month that immediately precedes the month in which the interest will accrue and
(b) 0.44%. Changes in the U.S. Dollar LIBOR rate may therefore affect our interest expense associated with the term loan.

If a 10% change in interest rates were to have occurred on December 31, 2018, this change would not have had a
material effect on our interest expense as of that date.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Regulus Therapeutics Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) and our report dated March 18, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

The Company's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has stated that
substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management's evaluation of the events and
conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Adoption of ASU No. 2014-09

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue in 2018 due to
the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), and
the related amendments.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2007.

San Diego, California
March 18,2019
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Regulus Therapeutics Inc.
BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2018 2017

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,935 $ 13,519

Short-term investments — 46,555

Contract and other receivables 26 373

Prepaid materials, net 4,194 4,783

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,140 1,506
Total current assets 19,295 66,736
Property and equipment, net 7,806 9,708
Intangibles, net 500 775
Other assets 326 590
Total assets $ 27927 $ 77,809
Liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,714 § 5,743

Accrued liabilities 4,184 4,941

Accrued compensation 1,601 1,985

Current portion of term loan, less debt issuance costs 16,575 19,859

Current portion of contract liabilities 2,572 72
Total current liabilities 26,646 32,600
Contract liabilities, less current portion 6 1,921
Deferred rent, less current portion 6,820 8,072
Other long-term liabilities 309 —
Total liabilities 33,781 42,593
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized, 8,818,019 and

8,062,435 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 9 9

Additional paid-in capital 386,860 381,199

Accumulated other comprehensive loss — (134)

Accumulated deficit (392,723) (345,858)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (5,854) 35,216
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ 27,927 $ 77,809

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.
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Regulus Therapeutics Inc.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Revenue under strategic alliances and collaborations $ 72 % 72 $ 1,194
Total revenues 72 72 1,194
Operating expenses:

Research and development 33,975 53,192 64,305

General and administrative 12,860 17,011 18,391
Total operating expenses 46,835 70,203 82,696
Loss from operations (46,763) (70,131) (81,502)
Other income (expense):

Interest and other income 459 752 844

Interest and other expense (2,343) (2,723) (1,182)
Loss before income taxes (48,647) (72,102) (81,840)
Income tax (expense) benefit (62) 197 4
Net loss $ (48,709) $ (71,905 $  (81,836)
Other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized (loss) gain on short-term investments, net — (11) 10
Comprehensive loss $ (48,709) $ (71,916) $ (81,826)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (5.59) $ (11.47) $ (18.59)
Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share 8,718,563 6,269,758 4,401,701

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2015

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Unrealized gain on short-term investments

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2016

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Unrealized loss on short-term investments

Issuance of common stock, net of $292 of offering costs
Cumulative effect of accounting change (ASU 2016-09)

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2017

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock units
Stock-based compensation expense

Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Unrealized gain on short-term investments

Cumulative effect of accounting change (ASU 2014-09)

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2018

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share data)

. Accumulated
Common stock Additional other Total
paid-in comprehensive ~ Accumulated stockholders’
Shares Amount capital income (loss) deficit equity (deficit)
4,388,625 $ 4 315,722 $ (133) $ (191,515) $ 124,078
7,478 = 310 = = 310
— — 12,872 — — 12,872
13,806 = 641 = = 641
— — — 10 — 10
— — — — (81,836) (81,836)
4,409,909 $ 4 329,545 $ (123) $ (273,351) $ 56,075
915 = 4 = = 4
— — 7,642 — — 7,642
34,945 — 419 — 419
— — — (11) — (11)
4,216,666 5 42,987 = == 42,992
— — 602 — (602) —
— — — — (71,905) (71,905)
8,662,435 $ 9 381,199 $ (134) $ (345,858) $ 35216
328 — 1 — — 1
128,840 — — — — —
— — 5,441 — — 5,441
26,416 — 219 — — 219
— — — 134 — 134
— — — — 1,844 1,844
— — — — (48,709) (48,709)
8,818,019 §$ 9 § 386,860 $ — 3 (392,723) $ (5,854)

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.
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Regulus Therapeutics Inc.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of premium on investments, net
Other
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Contracts and other receivables
Prepaid materials
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation
Contract liabilities
Deferred rent and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of short-term investments
Sales and maturities of short-term investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangibles
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Proceeds from borrowing under term loan, net
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options
Proceeds from capital lease financing
Principal payments on term loan
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Net changes in restricted cash
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities

Allowance for tenant improvements
Amounts accrued for property and equipment

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
(48,709) $  (71,905) $  (81,836)
2,262 2,524 2,276
5,441 7,642 12,872
148 349 666
756 600 1,043
347 1,284 8,364
134 394 (616)
630 2,369 (778)
(4,029) (65) 3,123
(1,370) (492) (871)
(384) (333) (74)
2,428 (72) (1,194)
(927) (1,068) 143
(43,273) (58,773) (56,882)
— (55,686) (65,110)
46,541 69,941 101,387
22) (303) (913)
— (16) (53)
46,519 13,936 35311
219 43,411 641
— — 19,768
1 4 310
292 — —
(3,342) — (167)
(2,830) 43,415 20,552
416 (1,422) (1,019)
13,519 14,941 15,960
13,935 $§ 13519 § 14,941
— 3 — 3 (1,256)
2,073) $ (1,044) $ (981)
@D s @D s D
—  $ —  $ 6,653
— 3 TS 202

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.
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Regulus Therapeutics Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The Business, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering and developing first-in-class drugs that target microRNAs
to treat a broad range of diseases. We were formed in 2007 when Alnylam and Ionis contributed significant intellectual
property, know-how and financial and human capital to pursue the development of drugs targeting microRNAs pursuant to a
license and collaboration agreement. Regulus Therapeutics Inc. was converted to a Delaware corporation on January 2, 2009.

As used in this report, unless the context suggests otherwise, “the Company,” “our,” “us” and “we” means Regulus
Therapeutics Inc.

Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a basis which assumes we are a going concern, and does not
include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and
classifications of liabilities that may result from any uncertainty related to our ability to continue as a going concern. Through the
date of the issuance of these financial statements, we have principally been financed through proceeds received from the sale of
our common stock and other equity securities, debt financings, up-front payments and milestones received from collaboration
agreements, totaling $407.5 million. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $13.9 million of cash and cash equivalents.
Based on our operating plans, we believe our cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to fund our operations for the period
one year following the issuance of these financial statements. As a result, there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue
as a going concern. All amounts due under the Term Loan (see note 9) have been classified as a current liability as of December
31,2018 and 2017 due to the considerations discussed above and the assessment that the material adverse change clause under
the Term Loan is not within the Company's control. We have not been notified of an event of default by the Lender as of the date
of the filing of this Form 10-K.

We intend to seek additional capital through equity and/or debt financings, collaborative or other funding arrangements
with partners or through other sources of financing. Should we seek additional financing from outside sources, we may not be
able to raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on
acceptable terms, we may be required to scale back or discontinue the advancement of product candidates, reduce headcount,
file for bankruptcy, reorganize, merge with another entity, or cease operations.

If we become unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets, and might realize significantly
less than the values at which they are carried on our financial statements, and stockholders may lose all or part of their
investment in our common stock.

Use of Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), which
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements and accompanying notes. An estimated loss
contingency is accrued in our financial statements if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. Although these estimates are based on our knowledge of current events and actions we may
undertake in the future, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues generally consist of upfront payments for licenses or options to obtain licenses in the future, milestone
payments and payments for other research services under strategic alliance and collaboration agreements.

Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606) (“Topic 606”) using the modified retrospective method which consisted of applying and recognizing the
cumulative effect of Topic 606 at the date of initial application. Topic 606 supersedes the revenue recognition requirements
in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605, Revenue Recognition (“Topic 6057). All periods prior to the
adoption date of Topic 606 have not been restated to reflect the impact of the adoption of Topic 606, but are accounted for and
presented under Topic 605.
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The following paragraphs in this section describe our revenue recognition accounting polices under Topic 606 upon
adoption on January 1, 2018. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 for revenue recognition accounting policies under Topic 605.

We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for
contracts with customers we perform the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the
performance obligation(s) in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligation(s) in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation(s). At
contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract, assess whether each promised good or
service is distinct and identify those that are performance obligations. We recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction
price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

Collaborative Arrangements

We enter into collaborative arrangements with partners that typically include payment to us of one of more of the
following: (i) license fees; (ii) payments related to the achievement of developmental, regulatory, or commercial milestones;
and (iii) royalties on net sales of licensed products. Where a portion of non-refundable up-front fees or other payments received
are allocated to continuing performance obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, they are recorded as
contract liabilities and recognized as revenue when (or as) the underlying performance obligation is satisfied.

As part of the accounting for these arrangements, we must develop estimates and assumptions that require judgment to
determine the underlying stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation which determines how the transaction price
is allocated among the performance obligation(s). The stand-alone selling price may include items such as forecasted revenues,
development timelines, discount rates, and probabilities of technical and regulatory success. We evaluate each performance
obligation to determine if it can be satisfied at a point in time, or over time. In addition, variable consideration must be
evaluated to determine if it is constrained and, therefore, excluded from the transaction price.

License Fees

If a license to our intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in
the arrangement, we recognize revenues from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is
transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other
performance obligations, we use judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether it
is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of
recognizing revenue. We evaluate the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjust the measure of
performance and related revenue recognition.

Milestone Payments

At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone payments (variable consideration), we evaluate whether the
milestones are considered probable of being reached and estimate the amount to be included in the transaction price. If it is
probable that a milestone event would occur at the inception of an arrangement, the associated milestone value is included in
the transaction price. Milestone payments that are contingent upon the achievement of events that are uncertain or not
controllable, such as regulatory approvals, are generally not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are
received, and therefore not included in the transaction price. The transaction price is then allocated to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which we recognize revenue as or when the performance obligations
under the contract are satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the probability of achievement of such
milestones and any related constraint(s), and if necessary, may adjust our estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such
adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which could affect license, collaboration or other revenues and
earnings in the period of adjustment.

Royalties

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on the level of sales, and for
which the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, we recognize revenue at the later of (i)
when the related sales occur, or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has
been satisfied (or partially satisfied). To date, we have not recognized any royalty revenue resulting from any of our
collaborative arrangements.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to employees and members of our
board of directors by estimating the fair value of each stock option on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. We recognize stock-based compensation expense using the accelerated multiple-option approach. Under the accelerated
multiple-option approach (also known as the graded-vesting method), we recognize compensation expense over the requisite
service period for each separately vesting tranche of the award as though the award was in substance multiple awards, resulting
in accelerated expense recognition over the vesting period. For performance-based awards granted to employees (i) the fair
value of the award is determined on the grant date, (ii) we assess the probability of the individual milestones under the award
being achieved and (iii) the fair value of the shares subject to the milestone is expensed over the implicit service period
commencing once management believes the performance criteria is probable of being met.

We account for restricted stock units by determining the fair value of each restricted stock unit based on the closing
market price of our common stock on the date of grant. We recognize stock-based compensation expense using the accelerated
multiple-option approach over the requisite service periods of the awards.

Prepaid Materials

We capitalize the purchase of certain raw materials and related supplies for use in the manufacturing of drug product in
our clinical development programs, as we have determined that these materials have alternative future use. We can use these
raw materials and related supplies in multiple clinical drug products, and therefore have future use independent of the
development status of any particular drug program until it is utilized in the manufacturing process. We expense the cost of
materials when used. We periodically review these capitalized materials for continued alternative future use and write down the
asset to its net realizable value in the period in which it is identified.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and consist of costs associated with research activities
supporting our drug discovery efforts, compensation and related benefits, non-cash stock-based compensation, license fees,
laboratory supplies and associated overhead and facility costs.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of the differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements using the enacted tax rates and laws that are anticipated to be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. We provide a valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets if it is more
likely than not that these items will either expire before we are able to realize their benefit or if future deductibility is uncertain.

In accordance with the accounting standards for uncertain tax positions, we evaluate the recognition threshold and
measurement attribute criteria for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities.

Clinical Trial and Preclinical Study Accruals

We make estimates of our accrued expenses for clinical trial and preclinical study activities as of each balance sheet date
in our financial statements based on the facts and circumstances known to us at that time. These accruals are based upon
estimates of costs incurred and fees that may be associated with services provided by clinical trial investigational sites, CROs
and for other clinical trial-related activities. Payments under certain contracts with such parties depend on factors such as
successful enrollment of patients, site initiation and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing for these services,
we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If
possible, we obtain information regarding unbilled services directly from these service providers. However, we may be required
to estimate these services based on other information available to us. If we underestimate or overestimate the activities or fees
associated with a study or service at a given point in time, adjustments to research and development expenses may be necessary
in future periods. Historically, our estimated accrued liabilities have approximated actual expense incurred. Subsequent changes
in estimates may result in a material change in our accruals.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We classify time deposits and other investments that are highly liquid and have maturities of 90 days or less at the date of
purchase as cash equivalents. The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments.

Short-Term Investments

We carry short-term investments classified as available-for-sale at fair value as determined by prices for identical or
similar securities at the balance sheet date. Our short-term investments have historically consisted of both Level 1 and Level 2
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy. We record unrealized gains and losses as a component of other comprehensive
loss within the statements of operations and comprehensive loss and as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. We
determine the realized gains or losses of available-for-sale securities using the specific identification method and include net
realized gains and losses in interest income.

At each balance sheet date, we assess available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position to determine whether the
unrealized loss is other-than-temporary. We consider factors including: the significance of the decline in value compared to the
cost basis, underlying factors contributing to a decline in the prices of securities in a single asset class, the length of time the
market value of the security has been less than its cost basis, the security’s relative performance versus its peers, sector or asset
class, expected market volatility and the market and economy in general. When we determine that a decline in the fair value
below its cost basis is other-than-temporary, we recognize an impairment loss in the year in which the other-than-temporary
decline occurred. We determined that there were no other-than-temporary declines in the value of short-term investments for
the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2017.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
equivalents and short-term investments. We maintain deposits in federally insured financial institutions in excess of federally
insured limits. We have not experienced any material losses in such accounts and believe we are not exposed to significant risk.
We maintain our cash equivalents and short-term investments with two highly accredited financial institutions. We have
historically invested our excess cash primarily in certificates of deposit and debt instruments of financial institutions and
corporations, United States Treasury securities and United States government-sponsored enterprise securities. Additionally, we
adhere to established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments, which are designed to preserve
their principal value and maintain liquidity.

Property and Equipment

We carry our property and equipment at cost, which consists of lab equipment, computer equipment and software,
furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements. Property and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives (generally three to five years). Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their useful
life or the remaining lease term, including any renewal periods that are deemed to be reasonably assured. Repair and
maintenance costs that do not improve service potential or extend economic life are expensed as incurred.

Intangibles

We capitalize costs which consist principally of outside legal costs and filing fees related to obtaining patents. We review
our capitalized patent costs periodically to determine that they include costs for patent applications that have future value and
an alternative future use. We evaluate costs related to patents that we are not actively pursuing and write off these costs. We
amortize patent costs over their patent lives, beginning with the date the patents are issued. The weighted average remaining
life of the issued patents was approximately 8 years at December 31, 2018.

We obtain licenses from third parties and capitalize the costs related to exclusive licenses that have alternative future use
within multiple potential programs. We amortize capitalized licenses over their estimated useful life or term of the agreement.
At December 31, 2018 we did not have any licenses capitalized in our balance sheet.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We regularly review the carrying amount of our property, equipment and intangible assets to determine whether
indicators of impairment may exist which warrant adjustments to carrying values or estimated useful lives. If indications of
impairment exist, projected future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset are compared to the carrying amount to
determine whether the asset’s value is recoverable. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds such projected undiscounted cash
flows, the asset will be written down to its estimated fair value. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016.
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On February 19, 2019, we entered into an agreement, the “Space Swap Agreement", with Nitto, pursuant to which we agreed,
contingent upon the execution of the Lease and the termination of the Prior Lease, to, among other things, (i) swap buildings
with Nitto on or about the Commencement Date, and (ii) sell, convey and transfer all right, title and interest in certain furniture,
fixtures and equipment to Nitto, as set forth in the Space Swap Agreement. Under the Space Swap Agreement, we will pay to
Nitto (a) a relocation assistance payment in the amount of $0.1 million; (b) $0.2 million representing the difference between the
security deposits under the Prior Lease and Nitto’s prior lease, and (c¢) $1.3 million as reimbursement for the six monthly
installments of base monthly rent due pursuant to the new lease between Nitto and Landlord, subject to certain adjustments,
which reimbursements are to be paid as rent comes due for Nitto under its new lease.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed in our periodic and current reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer,
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In reaching a reasonable level of
assurance, management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures. In addition, the design of any system of controls also is based, in part, upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

As of December 31, 2018, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal
financial and accounting officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable
assurance level as of December 31, 2018.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such
term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal
financial and accounting officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

As of December 31, 2018, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in /nternal Control-
Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). Based on this assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31,
2018, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report, which is included herein.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. An evaluation was also performed under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer, of
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Regulus Therapeutics Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Regulus Therapeutics Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Regulus Therapeutics Inc. (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2018, and the related notes and our report dated March 18, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon that included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 18,2019

Item 9B. Other Information
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item and not set forth below will be set forth in the section headed “Election of
Directors” and “Executive Officers” in our Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or Proxy Statement,
to be filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2019, and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a code of ethics for directors, officers (including our principal executive officer and our principal
financial and accounting officer) and employees, known as the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at http.//www.regulusrx.com under the Corporate Governance section of our
Investor Relations page. We will promptly disclose on our website (i) the nature of any amendment to the policy that applies to
our principal executive officer, principal financial and accounting officer or persons performing similar functions and (ii) the
nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of the policy that is granted to one of these specified
individuals that is required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules and regulations, the name of such person who is granted the
waiver and the date of the waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed “Executive Compensation” and "Director
Compensation" in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be set forth under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be set forth in the section headed “Equity Compensation
Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth in the section headed “Transactions With Related Persons” in our
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item will be set forth in the section headed “Ratification of Selection of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements. We have filed the following financial statements with this Annual Report:

Page Number
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 61
Balance Sheets 62
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 63
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 64
Statements of Cash Flows 65
Notes to Financial Statements 66

Financial Statement Schedules. All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown
in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Exhibits.
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10.16+
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10.18%

10.19%

10.20

10.21%

10.22%

10.231

10.24%

10.25%

Employment Agreement, effective June 22, 2017, by and between the Registrant and Mark Deeg, M.D., Ph.D.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No.
001-35670), filed with the SEC on August 2, 2017).

Separation Agreement, dated May 24, 2017, by and between the Registrant and Paul C. Grint, M.D.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No.
001-35670), filed with the SEC on August 2, 2017).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated May 24, 2017, by and between the Registrant and
Daniel R. Chevallard (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the SEC on May 26, 2017).

Office Lease by and between the Registrant and ARE-SD Region No. 44, LLC (as successor in interest to
Walton Torrey Owner B, L.L.C.), dated July 31, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on August 5, 2015).

Amended and Restated License and Collaboration Agreement among the Registrant, Alnylam
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), dated
January 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on

Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on August 17, 2012).

Amendment Number One to the Amended and Restated License and Collaboration Agreement among the
Registrant, Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Isis
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), dated June 10, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on
August 17, 2012).

Amendment Number Two to the Amended and Restated License and Collaboration Agreement among the

Registrant, Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Isis

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), dated October 25, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on
August 17, 2012).

Co-Exclusive License Agreement among the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University,
Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.),

dated August 31, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement

on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on August 17, 2012).
Assignment Agreement between the Registrant and Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly known as Isis

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), dated July 13, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on
August 17, 2012).

Exclusive Patent License Agreement between the Registrant and Bayerische Patent Allianz GmbH, dated May
18, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,

as amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on August 17, 2012).

Non-Exclusive Technology Alliance and Option Agreement between the Registrant and Sanofi, dated June 21,
2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1. as
amended (File No. 333-183384), originally filed with the SEC on August 17, 2012).

Collaboration and License Agreement between the Registrant and AstraZeneca AB, dated August 14, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as

amended (File No. 333-183384). originally filed with the SEC on August 17, 2012).

Amendment No. 1 (to Collaboration and License Agreement) between the Registrant and AstraZeneca AB,
dated April 30, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on

Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-189607), originally filed with the SEC on June 26, 2013).

Amendment Number Three to the Amended and Restated License and Collaboration Agreement among the
Company, Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated August 2, 2013 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with
the SEC on August 7, 2013).
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Second Amended and Restated Collaboration and License Agreement dated February 5, 2014 between the
Registrant and Sanofi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on February 28, 2014).

Letter Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2015, by and between the Registrant and AstraZeneca AB
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No.
001-35670), filed with the SEC on May 8, 2015).

Licensing Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2010, by and between the Registrant and ETH Zurich (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-35670), filed
with the SEC on February 23, 2016).

Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 17, 2016, by and between the Registrant and Oxford Finance LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No.
001-35670), filed with the SEC on August 3, 2016).

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 4, 2017, by and between the Registrant and
Oxford Finance LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on March 8, 2018).

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 6, 2018, by and between the Registrant
and Oxford Finance LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on March 8. 2018).

Joseph P. Hagan, Yearly Discretionary Base Salary Increase, effective January 1, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with

the SEC on May 10, 2018).

Timothy Wright, Ph.D., Yearly Discretionary Base Salary Increase, effective January 1, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with
the SEC on May 10, 2018).

Daniel R. Chevallard, Yearly Discretionary Base Salary Increase, effective January 1, 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with
the SEC on May 10, 2018).

Letter Agreement, dated May 8, 2018, by and between the Registrant and AstraZeneca AB (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with
the SEC on August 9, 2018).

Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 6, 2018, by and between the Registrant and
Oxford Finance LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on November 9, 2018).

Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement., dated November 5, 2018, by and between the Registrant
and Oxford Finance LLC.

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Collaboration and License Agreement, dated November 5,

2018, by and between the Registrant and Sanofi.

Common Stock Sales Agreement, dated December 12, 2018, by and between the Registrant and H.C.
Wainwright & Co., LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form

8-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on December 12, 2018).

Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2019, by and between the Registrant
and Oxford Finance LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-35670), filed with the SEC on February 1, 2019).

Lease Agreement, dated February 25, 2019. by and between the Registrant and ARE-SD Region No. 44 LLC.

Agreement, dated February 19, 2019, by and between the Registrant and Nitto Biopharma, Inc..

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated February 25, 2019, by and between the Registrant and ARE-
SD Region No. 44 LLC.
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1044 Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 7, 2019, by and between the Registrant and
Oxford Finance LLC.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1 Power of Attorney. Reference is made to the signature page hereto.

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities
’ Exchange Act of 1934.

30.1%* Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

+  We have requested or received confidential treatment for certain portions of this agreement, which have been omitted and
filed separately with the SEC pursuant to Rule 406 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Rule 24b-2 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

*  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

** This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this annual report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is not
being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not to be incorporated by reference into any
filing of the Registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such

filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

93



Table of Contents

Regulus Therapeutics Inc.

Date: March 18, 2019
By: /s/ Joseph P. Hagan

Joseph P. Hagan
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 18, 2019
By: /s/ Daniel R. Chevallard

Daniel R. Chevallard
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Joseph P. Hagan and Daniel R. Chevallard as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, with full
power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform
each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as
he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, and either of them, or his
or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Joseph P. Hagan President & Chief Executive Officer and Director
Joseph P. Hagan (Principal Executive Officer) March 18,2019
/s/ Daniel R. Chevallard Chief Financial Officer
Daniel R. Chevallard (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) March 18, 2019

/s/ Stelios Papadopoulos

Stelios Papadopoulos, Ph.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors March 18, 2019
/s/ David Baltimore

David Baltimore, Ph.D. Director March 18, 2019
/s/ Kathryn Collier

Kathryn Collier Director March 18,2019

/s/ William H. Rastetter

William H. Rastetter, Ph.D. Director March 18, 2019
/s/ Hugh Rosen
Hugh Rosen, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 18, 2019
/s/ Pascale Witz
Pascale Witz Director March 18,2019
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes 0 No X
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained,
to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Yes 0 No X
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by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $66.8 million, based on the closing price of the registrant’s common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market on June 29, 2018 of
$7.92 per share.

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, as of March 8, 2019 was 10,743,922.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
None.



Table of Contents

REGULUS THERAPEUTICS INC.
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Explanatory Note

PART III

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 4
Item 11 Executive Compensation 12
Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 24
Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 27
Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services 29
PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits. Financial Statement Schedules 30
Signatures

The Regulus Therapeutics logo is a trademark of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. We use “Regulus Therapeutics” as a trademark in the United States and
other countries. We have registered this trademark in the United States, the European Union and Switzerland. We use “microMarkers” as a service mark in the
United States and other countries. We have registered this service mark in the United States. All other product and company names are trademarks of their
respective companies.



Table of Contents

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amendment”) amends the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2018, originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 18,2019 (the “Original Filing”). We are
filing this Amendment to amend Part III of the Original Filing to include the information required by and not included in Part Il of the Original Filing
because we do not intend to file our definitive proxy statement within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31,2018. In connection with
the filing of this Amendment and pursuant to the rules of the SEC, we are including with this Amendment new certifications by our principal executive and
principal financial officers. Accordingly, Item 15 of Part IV has also been amended to reflect the filing of these new certifications. We are also amending Item
15 of Part IV of the Original Filing to reflect the correct location of Exhibit 4.2 in our prior filings with the SEC.

Except as described above, no other changes have been made to the Original Filing. The Original Filing continues to speak as of the date of the Original
Filing, and we have not updated the disclosures contained therein to reflect any events which occurred at a date subsequent to the filing of the Original Filing
other than as expressly indicated in this Amendment. In this Amendment, unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to Regulus Therapeutics Inc. Other defined terms used in this Amendment but not defined herein shall have the meaning specified for such terms in the
Original Filing.

On October 2, 2018, we filed a Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the state of
Delaware to effect a 1-for-12 reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding common stock. At the effective time of the reverse stock split, 5:00 p.m. on
October 3, 2018, each 12 shares of our issued and outstanding common stock were automatically combined and converted into one issued and outstanding
share of common stock. All of our stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) outstanding immediately prior to the reverse stock split were
proportionately adjusted. All issued and outstanding common stock, options exercisable for common stock, RSUs, and per share amounts contained in this
Amendment have been retrospectively adjusted.

All statements in this Amendment that are not historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange
Act 0f 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These forward-looking statements can generally be identified as such because the context of the statement
will include words such as “may,” “will,” “intend,” “plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,”
“opportunity,” “goals,” or “should,” the negative of these words or words of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our future plans, strategies,
intentions, expectations, objectives, goals or prospects are also forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are or will be, as applicable,
based largely on our expectations and projections about future events and future trends affecting our business, and so are or will be, as applicable, subject to
risks and uncertainties including but not limited to the risk factors discussed in the Original Filing, that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. We caution investors that there can be no assurance that actual results or business conditions will not
differ materially from those projected or suggested in such forward-looking statements. Our views and the events, conditions and circumstances on which
these future forward-looking statements are based, may change.

2 ” ” ” G ”

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

DIRECTORS

Our Board of Directors (“Board of Directors” or “Board”) currently consists of seven directors. The brief biographies below include information, as of
the date of this Amendment, regarding the specific and particular experience, qualifications, attributes or skills of each director.
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Name Age Position Held With the Company

Dr. Stelios Papadopoulos 70  Chairman of the Board of Directors

Kathryn J. Collier 51  Director

Dr. David Baltimore 81  Director

Mr. Joseph P. Hagan 50  Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Dr. William H. Rastetter 71  Director

Dr. Hugh Rosen 60  Director

Ms. Pascale Witz, MBA, MSc 52  Director

Stelios Papadopoulos, Ph.D. Chairman of the Board, has served on our Board of Directors since our conversion to a corporation in January 2009 and as
our Chairman since June 2013, and prior to that was a director of Regulus Therapeutics LLC since July 2008. Since 1994, Dr. Papadopoulos has served as a
director and, since 1998, as Chairman of the Board for Exelixis, Inc., a publicly held biotechnology company, which he co-founded. Since July 2008,
Dr. Papadopoulos has served as a member of the board of directors of Biogen Inc. (formerly Biogen Idec Inc.), a publicly held biopharmaceutical company,
and has served as its chairman of the board of directors since June 2014. From 2003 to 2018, Dr. Papadopoulos served as a member of the board of directors of
BG Medicine, Inc., a publicly-held life sciences company. From 2000 to 2006, Dr. Papadopoulos served as Vice Chairman with Cowen and Co., LLC, an
investment banking firm. From 1987 to 2000, Dr. Papadopoulos served in several positions with PaineWebber, Incorporated, most recently as Chairman of
PaineWebber Development Corp., a PaineWebber subsidiary focusing on biotechnology. Dr. Papadopoulos holds an M.S. in Physics, a Ph.D. in Biophysics
and an MBA in Finance from New York University. We selected Dr. Papadopoulos to serve on our Board of Directors due to his knowledge and expertise
regarding the biotechnology and healthcare industries, his broad leadership experience on various boards and his experience with financial matters.

David Baltimore, Ph.D. has served on our Board of Directors since our conversion to a corporation in January 2009, and prior to that was a director of
Regulus Therapeutics LLC since November 2007. Since 2006, Dr. Baltimore has served as President Emeritus and Robert Andrews Millikan Professor of
Biology at the California Institute of Technology, and before that from 1997 to 2006, Dr. Baltimore served as President of the California Institute of
Technology. From 1968 to 1972, Dr. Baltimore served as an associate professor at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and from 1972 to 1997 was a
professor at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. From 1990 to 1994, Dr. Baltimore served as professor at The Rockefeller University where he also
served as the President from July 1990 to December 1991. Since 1997, Dr. Baltimore has served as a director of Amgen Inc., a publicly held biotechnology
company, and also serves as a director of Immune Design Corp., a publicly held biotechnology company. In 1975, Dr. Baltimore received the Nobel Prize in
Medicine as a co-recipient. Dr. Baltimore holds a Ph.D. in Biology from The Rockefeller University and a B.A. with High Honors in Chemistry from
Swarthmore College. We selected Dr. Baltimore to serve on our Board of Directors due to the many years Dr. Baltimore has spent in scientific academia,
which has provided him with a deep understanding of our industry and our activities.

Kathryn “Kate” J. Collier has served on our Board of Directors since April 2018. Ms. Collier presently serves as the Chief of Strategy and Origination
for Sempra LNG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy, a publicly-traded energy services holding company whose subsidiaries provide electricity,
natural gas and value-added products and services. In this position, Ms. Collier oversees the finance, accounting, technology and human resource
organizations. Prior to joining Sempra Energy in 2012, Ms. Collier held several executive positions within global corporate and investment banking at Bank
of America Merrill Lynch. Ms. Collier currently serves on the boards of two Sempra electric utility subsidiaries: Luz del Sur, based in Lima, Peru, and
Chilquinta Energia, based in Valparaiso, Chile. Ms. Collier holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Valparaiso University, Valparaiso, Indiana. We
selected Ms. Collier to serve on our Board of Directors due to her extensive financial and operational experience, her experience in investment banking and
her corporate governance experience with various boards.

Joseph “Jay” Hagan has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and principal executive officer since May 2017. Mr. Hagan previously
served as our Chief Operating Officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer from January 2016 to May 2017. From June 2011 through
December 2015, Mr. Hagan served as the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Business Officer of Orexigen Therapeutics, Inc. From
May 2009 to June 2011, Mr. Hagan served as Orexigen’s Senior Vice President, Corporate Development, Strategy and Communications. From September
1998 to April 2008, Mr. Hagan served as Managing Director of Amgen Ventures. Prior to starting the Amgen Ventures Fund, Mr. Hagan served as Head of
corporate development for Amgen Inc. Before joining Amgen, Mr. Hagan spent five years in the bioengineering labs at Genzyme and Advanced Tissue
Sciences. Mr. Hagan has served on the board of directors of Zosano Pharma, a publicly traded biotechnology company, since May 2015 and on the board of
Aurinia Pharmaceuticals, Inc., since
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February 2018. He received an M.B.A. from Northeastern University and a B.S. in Physiology and Neuroscience from the University of California, San Diego.
We selected Mr. Hagan to serve on our board because we believe his expertise in business development, commercialization and financing of public
companies qualify him to serve on our Board of Directors.

William H. Rastetter, Ph.D. has served on our Board of Directors since April 2013. From 2006 to February 2013, Dr. Rastetter served as a partner in the
venture capital firm, Venrock. He served as Chief Executive Officer of IDEC Pharmaceuticals from December 1986 through November 2003, and as Chairman
from May 1996 to November 2003. Upon the merger of IDEC Pharmaceuticals and Biogen in November 2003, Dr. Rastetter served as Executive Chairman of
Biogen Idec until the end of2005. Dr. Rastetter served as chairman of the board of [llumina, Inc., a publicly held biotechnology company, from 2005 to
January 2016 and served on its board of directors from 1998 to January 2016. He was a founder of Receptos, Inc. in 2009 and served as its chairman until the
sale of the publicly held company to Celgene in 2015. Currently, he has served as the chairman of the board of directors of Fate Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly
held biotechnology company, since November 201 1; chairman of the board of directors of Neurocrine Biosciences, Inc., a publicly held biotechnology
company, since May 2011 and on its board of directors since February 2010; on the board of directors of Grail, Inc., a privately-held company, since January
2016, and as its chairman from August 2017 to November 2018. Dr. Rastetter served on the board of directors of Cerulean Pharma Inc., a publicly held
biotechnology company since January 2014, as its lead independent director from April 2014 to June 2016, and as its chairman from June 2016 until July
2017 when Cerulean and Daré Bioscience Inc. completed a reverse merger and he currently serves on the board of the surviving company, Daré Bioscience
Inc., a publicly-traded company. In addition, he serves as an advisor to Leerink Partners, a healthcare-focused investment bank, and as an advisor to Illumina
Ventures. He is the author of numerous scientific papers and patent applications in the fields of organic and bioorganic chemistry, protein and enzyme
engineering, and biotechnology. Dr. Rastetter holds an S.B. in Chemistry from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and received his M.A. and Ph.D. in
Chemistry from Harvard University. We believe that Dr. Rastetter’s knowledge and expertise regarding the biotechnology industry and his leadership
experience on various biotechnology company boards of directors qualifies him to serve on our Board of Directors.

Hugh Rosen, M.D., Ph.D. has served on our Board of Directors since June 2016. Since April 2017, Dr. Rosen has served as the President and Chairman of
the Board of Activx Biosciences, Inc., a wholly owned biopharmaceutical subsidiary of Kyorin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. From 2002 until March 2017,
Dr. Rosen served as a Professor of Chemical Physiology at The Scripps Research Institute (TSRI) in La Jolla, California where he focused on pursuing his
primary interests in lymphocyte trafficking and barrier regulation by signaling lipids, and contributing towards the development of translational
infrastructure at TSRI. He also served as Chairman of the Committee for Advanced Human Therapeutics of TSRI. Prior to joining The Scripps Research
Institute, Dr. Rosen served in various capacities with Merck Research Laboratories most recently serving as Executive Director in Immunology,
Rheumatology and Infectious Diseases and Chair of the Worldwide Business Strategy Team for Antibacterials and Antifungals, reporting to the Management
Committee. Dr. Rosen was a scientific founder of Receptos, Inc., now a wholly owned biopharmaceutical subsidiary of Celgene Corporation, and of
Blackthorm Therapeutics. He received his M.D. from the University of Cape Town, South Africa and his Ph.D. in Physiological Sciences from Oxford. We
believe that Dr. Rosen is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors due to the many years Dr. Rosen has spent in scientific academia as well as the

biopharmaceutical industry, which has provided him with a deep understanding of our industry and our activities.

Pascale Witz, MBA, MSc has served on our Board of Directors since June 2017. From September 2015 through May 2016, Ms. Witz served as the
Executive Vice President, Diabetes & Cardiovascular for Sanofi, S.A. Prior to that position, Ms. Witz served as the Executive Vice President, Global Divisions
and Strategic Development, commencing in July 2013. Commencing in 1996, Ms. Witz was employed in positions of increasing responsibility with GE
Healthcare, most recently serving as the President and CEO of Medical Diagnostics from March 2009 through June 2013. Ms. Witz has served on the board of
Perkin Elmer, a publicly-held global scientific technology and life science research company, since October 2017; Horizon Pharma, a publicly-held
pharmaceutical company, since August 2017 and Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, a publicly-held world leader dialysis company, From May 2016
to April 2018, Ms. Witz served on the board of Savencia SA, a publicly held global food and dairy company. Ms. Witz received her MSc in Life Sciences &
Engineering from the Institut National des Sciences Appliquées de Lyon, France and an MBA from INSEAD, Fontainebleau, France. She was also a Ph.D.
student in Molecular Biology at the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Strasbourg, France. We believe that Ms. Witz is qualified to serve on our
Board of Directors due to the many years she has spent in the biopharmaceutical industry, which has provided her with a deep understanding of our industry
and our activities.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth our current executive officers, their ages, and the positions held by each such person with the Company:

6
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Name Age Position Held With the Company

Joseph “Jay” Hagan 50 President and Chief Executive Officer
Daniel R. Chevallard 39 Chief Financial Officer

Christopher Aker 58 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Mpr. Hagan'’s biographical information is set forth above.

Daniel R. Chevallard has served as our Chief Financial Officer and principal financial officer since May 2017. Mr. Chevallard joined us in December
2012 as Vice President, Accounting and Financial Reporting and served as Vice President, Finance from May 2013 to April 2017. Prior to joining us, Mr.
Chevallard held various senior roles in corporate finance, accounting and financial reporting including Controller and Senior Director, Finance of
Prometheus Laboratories Inc. (acquired by Nestle” Health Science in July 2011). Prior to joining Prometheus, Mr. Chevallard spent approximately five years
in public accounting at Ernst & Young, LLP in their assurance services practice. He received his Bachelor of Accountancy from the University of San Diego
and is a Certified Public Accountant in the state of California.

Christopher Aker has served as our Senior Vice President and General Counsel since January 2019, and before that served as our Senior Director, Legal
Affairs since February 2011. Prior to joining us, Mr. Aker served as the Senior Director, Administration and Senior Corporate Counsel for Phenomix
Corporation, a privately-held biopharmaceutical company, and was responsible for operational and legal oversight. Prior to Phenomix, Mr. Aker was Senior
Corporate Counsel at SUGEN, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Pharmacia, until its acquisition by Pfizer. Prior to SUGEN, Mr. Aker was in private practice
with various law firms. Mr. Aker received his Bachelor of Arts degree in International Relations from the University of California, Davis and his J.D. from the
Santa Clara University.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) ofthe Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors and executive officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered
class of the Company’s equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common stock and other
equity securities of the Company. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish the Company with
copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To the Company’s knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company and written representations that no other
reports were required, during the fiscal year ended December 31,2018, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater
than ten percent beneficial owners were complied with; except for one late filing for Dr. Papadopoulos as described below.

On November 12,2018, Dr. Papadopoulos was granted RSUs due to his participation in the Company’s tender offer. The requisite Form 4 was prepared
and submitted to the SEC on Dr. Papadopoulos’ behalf; however, due to a typographical error on the Form 4, the filing was rejected and the securities were
not timely reported within the required 48-hour time window. However, on November 21, 2018 the error was identified and the required Form 4 was
successfully filed on Dr. Papadopoulos’ behalf.

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all directors, officers (including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer) and employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the Company’s website
at www.regulusrx.com under the Corporate Governance section of our Investor Relations page. If the Company makes any substantive amendments to the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller or
persons performing similar functions, or grants any waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any of these specified individuals
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules and regulations, the Company will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on its
website.

Board Leadership Structure

Our Board of Directors is currently chaired by Stelios Papadopoulos, Ph.D. As a general policy, our Board of Directors believes that separation of the
positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer reinforces the independence of the Board of

7
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Directors from management, creates an environment that encourages objective oversight of management’s performance and enhances the effectiveness of the
Board of Directors as a whole. As such, Mr. Hagan serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer while Dr. Papadopoulos serves as our Chairman of the

Board of Directors but is not an officer. We expect and intend the positions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer to continue to
be held by separate individuals in the future.

Role of the Board in Risk Oversight

One of'the key functions of our Board of Directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. The Board of Directors does not have a
standing risk management committee, but rather administers this oversight function directly through the Board of Directors as a whole, as well as through
various standing committees of our Board of Directors that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, our Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure, and our Audit Committee has the responsibility to consider and discuss our major financial
risk exposures and the steps our management has taken to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern the process by
which risk assessment and management is undertaken. The Audit Committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Our
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee monitors the effectiveness of our corporate governance practices, including whether they are successful in
preventing illegal or improper liability-creating conduct. Our Compensation Committee assesses and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and
programs has the potential to encourage excessive risk-taking.

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors met nine times during the last fiscal year and four times in executive session. All directors who served in 2018 attended at least
75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board and of the committees on which they served, held during the portion of the last fiscal year for which
they were directors or committee members, respectively.

Information Regarding Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board maintains an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The following table
provides membership and meeting information for the year ended December 31, 2018 for each of the Board committees:

Nominating and

Corporate
Name Audit Compensation Governance
Dr. David Baltimore X X *
Ms. Kathryn J. Collier" X * X
Dr. Stelios Papadopoulos X X
Dr. William H. Rastetter X X *
Dr. Hugh Rosen X X
Ms. Pascale Witz?® X
Total meetings in 2018 4 8 2
* Committee Chairperson

(1) Concurrently with her appointment to the Board in April 2018, Ms. Collier was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Collier assumed the Chair of the Audit Committee in June 2018.

(2) Ms. Witz resigned from the Audit Committee in December 2018 in order to devote her time to other audit committees on which she serves.

Below is a description of each committee of the Board of Directors. Each of the committees has authority to engage legal counsel or other experts or
consultants, as it deems appropriate to carry out its responsibilities. Our Board of Directors has determined that each member of each committee meets the
applicable Nasdaq rules and regulations regarding “independence” and that each member is free of any relationship that would impair his or her individual
exercise of independent judgment with regard to the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors was established by our Board of Directors in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act,
to oversee the Company’s corporate accounting and financial reporting processes and audits of'its financial statements. For this purpose, our Audit
Committee performs several functions. Our Audit Committee evaluates the performance of and assesses the qualifications of the independent auditors;
determines and approves the engagement of the independent auditors; determines whether to retain or terminate the existing independent auditors or to
appoint and engage new independent auditors; reviews and approves the retention of the independent auditors to perform any proposed permissible non-
audit services; monitors the rotation of partners of the independent auditors on the Company’s audit engagement team as required by law; reviews and
approves or rejects transactions between the Company and any related persons; confers with management and the independent auditors regarding
the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting; establishes procedures, as required under applicable law, for the receipt, retention and treatment
of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and the confidential and anonymous
submission by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; and meets to review the Company’s annual audited financial
statements and quarterly financial statements with management and the independent auditor, including a review of the Company’s disclosures under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Our Audit Committee is currently composed of three directors: Ms. Collier, Dr. Papadopoulos and Dr. Rastetter. The Audit Committee met four times
during the last fiscal year. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter of the Audit Committee that is available to stockholders on the Company’s
website at www.regulusrx.com. Our Board of Directors reviews the Nasdaq listing standards definition of independence for Audit Committee members on an
annual basis and has determined that all members of our Audit Committee are independent (as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(c)(2)(A) of the
Nasdaq listing standards).

Our Board of Directors has determined that Ms. Collier qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined in applicable SEC rules. Our Board
of Directors has made a qualitative assessment of Ms. Collier’s level of knowledge and experience based on a number of factors, including her formal
education, her experience in the investment banking industry and as the holder of various positions with responsibility for finance of a subsidiary of a major
publicly-traded energy services holding company.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is currently composed of four directors: Dr. Baltimore, Dr. Papadopoulos, Dr. Rastetter and Dr. Rosen. The Board of
Directors reviews the Nasdaq listing standards definition of independence for Compensation Committee members on an annual basis and has determined that
all members of the Company’s Compensation Committee are independent (as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(d)(2)(A of the Nasdaq listing
standards). The Compensation Committee met eight times during the last fiscal year. The Compensation Committee has adopted a written charter that is
available to stockholders on the Company’s website at www.regulusrx.com.

The Compensation Committee acts on behalf of the Board to review, adopt and/or recommend for adoption and oversee the Company’s compensation
strategy, policies, plans and programs. The functions of the Compensation Committee include, among other things:

* reviewing, modifying and approving (or if it deems appropriate, making recommendations to the full Board of Directors regarding) our overall
compensation strategy and policies;

* reviewing and recommending to our Board of Directors the compensation and other terms of employment of our executive officers;

* reviewing and recommending to our Board of Directors the performance goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our executive officers
and assessing their performance against these goals and objectives;

* reviewing and approving (or if it deems it appropriate, making recommendations to the full Board of Directors regarding) the equity incentive plans,
compensation plans and similar programs advisable for us, as well as modifying, amending or terminating existing plans and programs;

« evaluating risks associated with our compensation policies and practices and assessing whether risks arising from our compensation policies and
practices for our employees are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us;

» reviewing and approving (or if it deems it appropriate, making recommendations to the full Board of Directors regarding) the type and amount of
compensation to be paid or awarded to our non-employee board members;
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» establishing policies for allocating between long-term and currently paid out compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation and the
factors used in deciding between the various forms of compensation;

» establishing policies with respect to votes by our stockholders to approve executive compensation as required by Section 14A of the Exchange Act
and determining our recommendations regarding the frequency of advisory votes on executive compensation;

« reviewing and assessing the independence of compensation consultants, legal counsel and other advisors as required by Section 10C of the
Exchange Act;

» establishing elements of corporate performance for purposes of increasing or decreasing compensation;

¢ administering our equity incentive plans;

« establishing policies with respect to equity compensation arrangements;

» reviewing regional and industry-wide compensation practices and trends to assess the competitiveness of our executive compensation programs and
evaluating the effectiveness of our compensation policy and strategy in achieving expected benefits to us;

« reviewing the adequacy of'its charter on a periodic basis;

* reviewing with management and approving our disclosures under the caption “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in our periodic reports or
proxy statements to be filed with the SEC; and

e preparing the compensation committee report as required by SEC rules.

Compensation Committee Processes and Procedures

Typically, the Compensation Committee meets at least twice annually and with greater frequency if necessary. The agenda for each meeting is usually
developed by the Chair of the Compensation Committee, in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation Committee meets regularly in
executive session. However, from time to time, various members of management and other employees as well as outside advisors or consultants may be
invited by the Compensation Committee to make presentations, to provide financial or other background information or advice or to otherwise participate in
Compensation Committee meetings. The Chief Executive Officer may not participate in, or be present during, any deliberations or determinations of the
Compensation Committee regarding his compensation. The charter of the Compensation Committee grants the Compensation Committee full access to all
books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company, as well as authority to obtain, at the expense of the Company, advice and assistance from internal
and external legal, accounting or other advisors and consultants and other external resources that the Compensation Committee considers necessary or
appropriate in the performance of'its duties. In particular, the Compensation Committee has the sole authority to retain compensation consultants to assist in
its evaluation of executive and director compensation, including the authority to approve the consultant’s reasonable fees and other retention terms.

During fiscal year 2018, the Compensation Committee engaged Aon/Radford as a compensation consultant. The Committee engaged Aon/Radford to
provide a competitive assessment of the Company’s executive compensation program compared to executive compensation paid to executives at selected
publicly traded peer companies. Following a gap analysis of the peer companies, Aon/Radford made certain recommendations to the Compensation
Committee to make modest increases in the level of equity grants to the Company’s executive team and to increase annual cash compensation for certain
Company executives and Board Committee members who were paid below the median compared to the peer companies. The Compensation Committee
analyzed whether the work of Aon/Radford as a compensation consultant raised any conflict of interest, taking into consideration the following factors:

(i) the provision of other services to the Company by the compensation consultant; (ii) the amount of fees from the Company paid to the compensation
consultant as a percentage of the firm’s total revenue; (iii) the policies and procedures of the compensation consultant that are designed to prevent conflicts
ofinterest; (iv) any business or personal relationship of the compensation consultant or the individual compensation advisors employed by this firm with an
executive officer of the Company; (v) any business or personal relationship of the individual compensation advisors with any member of the Compensation
Committee; and (vi) any stock of the Company owned by the compensation consultant or the individual compensation advisors employed by this firm. The
Compensation Committee concluded, based on its analysis of the above factors, that the work of Aon/Radford and the individual compensation advisors
employed by this firm as a compensation consultant to the Company has not created any conflict of interest.

Under its charter, the Compensation Committee may form, and delegate authority to, subcommittees as appropriate. In 2012, the Compensation
Committee formed a Non-Management Stock Option Committee, currently composed of Mr. Hagan, to which it delegated authority to grant, without any
further action required by the Compensation Committee, stock awards to employees who are not officers of the Company. The purpose of this delegation of
authority is to enhance the flexibility of option administration within the Company and to facilitate the timely grant of options to non-management
employees, particularly new employees, within specified limits approved by the Compensation Committee. In particular, the subcommittee may grant
options only within pre-approved guidelines and not to any employee who will have a vice president title or higher. Typically, as part of its oversight
function, the Committee will review on a regular basis the list of grants made by the
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subcommittee. During fiscal year 2018, the subcommittee exercised its authority to grant options and stock awards to purchase an aggregate of 864,409
shares of the Company’s common stock to non-officer employees.

Historically, the Compensation Committee has made most of the significant adjustments to annual compensation, determined bonus and equity awards
and established new performance objectives at one or more meetings held during the last quarter of the year. However, the Compensation Committee also
considers matters related to individual compensation, such as compensation for new executive hires, as well as high-level strategic issues, such as the efficacy
of'the Company’s compensation strategy, potential modifications to that strategy and new trends, plans or approaches to compensation, at various meetings
throughout the year. Generally, the Compensation Committee’s process comprises two related elements: the determination of compensation levels and the
establishment of performance objectives for the current year. For executives other than the Chief Executive Officer, the Compensation Committee solicits and
considers evaluations and recommendations submitted to the Committee by the Chief Executive Officer. In the case of the Chief Executive Officer, the
evaluation of his performance is conducted by the Compensation Committee, which determines any adjustments to his compensation as well as awards to be
granted. For all executives and directors as part of its deliberations, the Compensation Committee may review and consider, as appropriate, materials such as
financial reports and projections, operational data, tax and accounting information, tally sheets that set forth the total compensation that may become
payable to executives in various hypothetical scenarios, executive and director stock ownership information, company stock performance data, analyses of
historical executive compensation levels and current Company-wide compensation levels and recommendations of the Company’s Vice President, Legal
Affairs, including analyses of executive and director compensation paid at other companies identified by the Company’s Vice President, Legal Affairs.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for identifying, reviewing and evaluating candidates to
serve as directors of the Company (consistent with criteria approved by the Board), reviewing and evaluating incumbent directors, recommending to the
Board for selection candidates for election to the Board of Directors, making recommendations to the Board regarding the membership of the committees of
the Board, assessing the performance of the Board, and monitoring the Company’s adherence to its Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is composed of four directors: Dr. Baltimore, Ms. Collier, Dr. Rosen and Ms. Witz. All members
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are independent (as independence is currently defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the Nasdaq listing
standards). The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met twice during 2018. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has
adopted a written charter that is available to stockholders on the Company’s website and www.regulusrx.com.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee believes that candidates for director, both individually and collectively, can and do provide the
integrity, experience, judgment, commitment (including having sufficient time to devote to the Company and level of participation), skills, diversity and
expertise appropriate for the Company. In assessing the directors, both individually and collectively, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
may consider the current needs of the Board and the Company to maintain a balance of knowledge, experience and capability in various areas. However, the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee retains the right to modify these qualifications from time to time. Candidates for director nominees are
reviewed in the context of the current composition of the Board, the operating requirements of the Company and the long-term interests of stockholders. In
conducting this assessment, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee typically considers diversity, age, skills and such other factors as it deems
appropriate given the current needs of the Board and the Company, to maintain a balance of knowledge, experience and capability. In the case of incumbent
directors whose terms of office are set to expire, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews these directors’ overall service to the
Company during their terms, including the number of meetings attended, level of participation, quality of performance and any other relationships and
transactions that might impair the directors’ independence. In the case of new director candidates, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also
determines whether the nominee is independent for Nasdaq purposes, which determination is based upon applicable Nasdaq listing standards, applicable SEC
rules and regulations and the advice of counsel, if necessary. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee then uses its network of contacts to
compile a list of potential candidates, but may also engage, if it deems appropriate, a professional search firm. The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee conducts any appropriate and necessary inquiries into the backgrounds and qualifications of possible candidates after considering the function
and needs of the Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meets to discuss and consider the candidates’ qualifications and then selects
a nominee for recommendation to the Board by majority vote.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended by stockholders. The Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee does not intend to alter the manner in which it evaluates candidates,
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including the minimum criteria set forth above, based on whether or not the candidate was recommended by a stockholder. Stockholders who wish to
recommend individuals for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee to become nominees for election to the Board may do so
by delivering a written recommendation to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee at the Company’s principal executive offices, Attn:
Secretary, no later than the 90th day and no earlier than the 120th day prior to the one year anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting. Submissions
must include (1) the name and address of the Company stockholder on whose behalf the submission is made; (2) the number of Company shares that are
owned beneficially by such stockholder as of the date of the submission; (3) the full name of the proposed candidate; (4) a description of the proposed
candidate’s business experience for at least the previous five years; (5) the complete biographical information for the proposed candidate; (6) a description of
the proposed candidate’s qualifications as a director; and (7) any other information required by the Company Bylaws. The Company may require any
proposed nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an
independent director of the Company or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such
proposed nominee.

Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors

The Company’s Board has adopted a formal process by which stockholders may communicate with the Board or any of its directors. Stockholders who
wish to communicate with the Board may do so by sending written communications addressed to the Secretary of Regulus Therapeutics Inc. at the
Company’s principal executive offices. Each communication must set forth: the name and address of the Company stockholder on whose behalfthe
communication is sent; and the number of Company shares that are owned beneficially by such stockholder as of the date of the communication. Each
communication will be reviewed by the Company’s Secretary to determine whether it is appropriate for presentation to the Board or relevant directors.

Communications determined by the Company’s Secretary to be appropriate for presentation to the Board or any relevant directors are submitted to the
Board or relevant directors on a periodic basis.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Execution Compensation

The Company is a “smaller reporting company” under Item 10 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and the
following compensation disclosure is intended to comply with the requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies. Although the rules allow the
Company to provide less detail about its executive compensation program, the Compensation Committee is committed to providing the information
necessary to help stockholders understand its executive compensation-related decisions. Accordingly, this section includes supplemental narratives that
describe the 2018 executive compensation program for our Named Executive Officers.

Named Executive Officers. The following individuals are our “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” for the year ended December 31,2018:

» Joseph P. Hagan, our President and Chief Executive Officer;
*  Timothy Wright, M.D., our Chief Research & Development Officer (Dr. Wright resigned from the Company effective March 15,2019); and
e Daniel R. Chevallard, our Chief Financial Officer.

Executive Summary
Business Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering and developing first-in-class drugs targeting microRNAs to treat diseases
with significant unmet medical need. We were formed in 2007 when Alnylam and Ionis contributed significant intellectual property, know-how and financial
and human capital to pursue the development of drugs targeting microRNAs pursuant to a license and collaboration agreement. Our most advanced product
candidates are RG-012 and RGLS4326. RG-012 is an anti-miR targeting miR-21 for the treatment of Alport syndrome, a life-threatening kidney disease with
no approved therapy available. In November 2018, we and Sanofi agreed to transition further development activities of our miR-21 programs, including our
RG-012 program, to Sanofi, who will be responsible for all costs incurred in the development of our miR programs. RGLS4326 is an anti-miR targeting miR-
17 for the treatment of ADPKD. In addition to these clinical programs, we continue to develop a pipeline of preclinical drug product candidates.
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2018 continued to be a transitional year for our Company. We made important changes to our portfolio and implemented a second corporate
restructuring to streamline our operations, reduce our operating expenses, extend our cash runway and focus our resources on our most promising programs.
We also implemented a reduction in our total workforce by approximately 60%, which was substantially completed in July 2018. It was critical to our Board
of Directors and Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”) that our compensation arrangements with our
executive officers provided the appropriate support and incentives to retain, motivate and reward our executive officers through this continuing time of
transition. We continue to carefully evaluate our compensation arrangements, as necessary, to move our Company forward and ensure that our pay program
aligns our executives’ compensation with our stockholders’ interests and our Company performance over the long-term.

2018 Corporate Performance Highlights
2018 was a year of significant achievement for the Company as we:

» amended our collaboration agreement with Sanofi to transition further development activities of our miR-21 programs, including our RG-012
program, to Sanofi, who will be responsible for all costs incurred in the development of these miR-21 programs;

» announced data from the renal biopsy study of RG-012 indicating target engagement in Alport syndrome patients treated with RG-012;

+ completed a single ascending dose Phase I clinical trial of RGLS4326 in healthy volunteers to test the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and
pharmacodynamics of RGLS4326;

» commenced our multiple ascending dose Phase I clinical trial of RGLS4326 in healthy volunteers to test the safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of RGLS4326;

* investigated unexpected findings in our mouse toxicology study for RGLS4326 used to support our clinical development program;

* revised our term loan agreement with Oxford Finance, LLC (“Oxford”) to ensure our continued liquidity; and

* maintained our capital structure by meeting our expected expense burn and remaining on budget.

Pay for Performance/At Risk Pay

Our executive compensation program is designed to reward achievement of the specific strategic goals that we believe will advance our business strategy
and create long-term value for our stockholders. Consistent with our goal of attracting, motivating and retaining a high-caliber executive team, our executive
compensation program is designed to pay for performance. We utilize compensation elements that meaningfully align our NEOs’ interests with those of our
stockholders to create long-term value. As such, a significant portion of our CEO’s and other executive officers’ compensation is “at risk”, performance-based
compensation, in the form of long-term equity awards (including performance-vesting equity awards) and annual cash incentives that are only earned if we
achieve measurable corporate metrics. The charts below show the 2018 total reported pay mix of our CEO, Mr. Hagan, and our other NEOs and the portion of
each individual’s aggregate reported pay that is tied directly to performance, consisting of annual performance bonus eamed and equity incentives awarded
(based on such equity incentives’ grant date fair value as reported in the “Summary Compensation Table”).
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*Reflects 2018 cash compensation, consisting of annual base salaries and performance bonus earned, and 2018 equity awards granted, based on such equity
incentives’ grant date fair value as reported in the Summary Compensation Table, for each of our NEOs.

Responsible Executive Compensation Practices

The following table summarizes what we do and what we don’t do in our executive compensation practices to highlight both the responsible practices
we have implemented and the practices we have avoided to best serve our stockholders’ long-term interests.

‘What We Do What We Don’t Do

V' Heavily weight our NEO compensation toward “at risk,” performance- x Provide any of our executive officers with any excise tax or other tax gross-
based compensation ups

V' Grant equity awards that vest based on objective performance goals x Pay dividends or dividend equivalents on uneamned shares

V Structure our executive compensation program to minimize x Permit hedging or other forms of speculative transactions by executive
inappropriate risk-taking officers, members of management and directors

V' Select peer companies that we compete with for executive talent, have a

. . .. . . . . x Provide single-trigger change in control cash payments
similar business and are of similar size as us, and review their pay practices

v Solicit advice from the Compensation Committee’s independent

. x Provide excessive cash severance benefits to our executive officers
compensation consultant

V' Have three or more independent non-employee directors serve on the x Provide any defined benefit pension plans or supplemental employee
Compensation Committee retirement plans to our executive officers

Oversight of Executive Compensation

The compensation of our Named Executive Officers is determined and approved by our Compensation Committee, who recommends its decisions to our
Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors, without members of management or any of our Named Executive Officers present, also approves all Named
Executive Officer compensation decisions.

We believe that in order to create value for our stockholders, it is critical to attract, motivate and retain key executive talent by providing competitive
compensation packages. Accordingly, we design our executive compensation programs to:

»  attract, motivate and retain executives with the skills and expertise to execute our business plans;

+ reward those executives fairly over time for actions consistent with creating long-term stockholder value;

» align the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders;

+ provide compensation packages that are competitive, reasonable and fair within the highly competitive life sciences market for talented
individuals.

The Compensation Committee uses the services of an independent compensation consultant who is retained by, and reports directly to, the
Compensation Committee to provide the Compensation Committee with an additional external perspective with respect to its evaluation of relevant market
and industry practices. Since 2013, the Compensation Committee has used Radford, an AON Hewitt Company, as a third-party compensation consultant to
assist the Compensation Committee in establishing overall compensation levels. Radford conducted analyses and provided advice on, among other things,
the appropriate peer group, executive compensation for our executive officers and compensation trends in the life sciences industry. The peer group of
companies used by the Compensation Committee in making 2018 compensation decisions was comprised of the following companies:

The peer group was recommended by Radford and chosen in late-2017 based on the following parameters: biopharmaceutical companies that were pre-
commercial and with programs in early clinical development, had market values generally between $100 million and $500 million and with a preference for

companies with headcounts under 200. At the time we choose our peer group companies, our market value was approximately $250 million and our
headcount was 25 employees.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows, for the fiscal years ended December 31,2018, December 31,2017, and December 31,2016, compensation awarded to, paid
to, or earned by, the Named Executive Officers.
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Non-Equity Incentive Plan All Other
Salary Bonus Option Awards Compensation Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year (&) %) ®@) $Q2) $3) 3

Joseph P. Hagan 2018 520,000 -- 1,580,018 234,000 4,250 2,338,268
President & Chief Executive Officer 2017 475,300 - 1,268,367 175,000 3,827 1,922,494

2016 413,670 100,000 3,326,416 107,900 2,293 3,950,379
Timothy Wright, M.D. 2018 466,967 -- 817,122 186,787 8,250 1,479,126
Chief Research & Development Officer 2017 453,366 - 596,145 134,196 5,350 1,189,057

2016 112,500 110,000 1,999,028 28,721 1,526 2,251,775
Daniel R. Chevallard 2018 312,000 - 535,241 124,800 11,526 963,278
Chief Financial Officer 2017 281,897 -- 197,474 96,000 5,262 580,633

(1) Inaccordance with SEC rules, this column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the option awards granted during the years indicated, computed in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standard Board ASC Topic 718 for stock-based compensation transactions, or ASC 718. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are
included in Note 10 to the Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic
value that will be realized by the Named Executive Officer upon the vesting of the stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the common stock underlying
such stock options. The grant date fair value of the option awards granted during 2018 that vest based on performance conditions is reported based on the probable outcome
of such performance conditions, as determined in accordance with ASC 718, which is the same as the grant date fair value of such awards at the grant date, assuming that the
highest level of performance conditions will be achieved. As a result of our tender offer in November 2018, each of the option awards held by the our NEOs (including those
granted in 2018 and reflected in the table above) were exchanged for performance-vesting RSUs, as described further under “Narrative Disclosure to Summary
Compensation Table - Equity-Based Incentive Awards - Tender Offer” below. The tender offer was a “value-for-value” exchange and constituted a repricing of each of the
NEO’s outstanding stock option awards, as of November 9, 2018. For each of our NEOs, the incremental fair value of the repriced awards, computed as of the repricing date
in accordance with ASC 718, was zero.

(2) Amounts shown represent performance bonuses earned for the years indicated.

(3) Amounts shown include term life insurance and long-term disability insurance paid by us on behalf of the Named Executive Officers, matching payments made to the NEOs
Health Savings Account (if the NEO participated in our high deductible health plan) and matching contributions we paid under the terms of our 401(k) plan. All of these
benefits are provided to the Named Executive Officers on the same terms as provided to all of our regular full-time employees in the United States. For more information
regarding these benefits, see below under “Other Compensation.”

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table

The three principal components of our executive compensation program for our Named Executive Officers in 2018 were base salary, annual
performance-based bonus opportunity and equity compensation. We do not have any formal policies for allocating compensation among salary, performance
bonus awards and equity grants, short-term and long-term compensation or among cash and non-cash compensation. Instead, the Compensation Committee
uses its judgment to establish a total compensation program for each named executive officer that is a mix of current, short-term and long-term incentive
compensation, and cash and non-cash compensation, that it believes appropriate to achieve the goals of our executive compensation program and our
corporate objectives. In line with our pay for performance philosophy, we structured a significant portion of our Named Executive Officers’ 2018
compensation to be variable, at risk and tied directly to our measurable performance in the form of performance-based bonuses and equity incentives, as
further described above under “Executive Summary”.

Base Salary

In December 2017, the Compensation Committee reviewed the base salaries for our Named Executive Officers, the market data from Radford, our 3%
Company-wide corporate merit increase target for base salaries, the scope of each executive’s responsibilities for 2018, each executive’s prior experience and
internal pay equity. After such review, the Named Executive Officers’ 2018 annual base salaries (effective January 1,2018) and increases from 2017 annual
base salaries approved by the Compensation Committee were as follows:
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Increase from 2017 Base Salary

Name 2018 Base Salary ($) (%)
Joseph P. Hagan 520,000 4%
Timothy Wright, M.D. 466,967 3%
Daniel R. Chevallard 312,000 4%

Annual Performance-Based Bonus Opportunity

The annual performance-based bonus each Named Executive Officer is eligible to receive is based on (1) the individual’s target bonus, as a percentage of
base salary, (2) a Company-based performance factor (“CPF”), and (3) an individual performance factor (“IPF”). The actual performance-based bonus paid, if
any, is calculated by taking into consideration the executive officer’s annual base salary, target bonus percentage, percentage attainment of the CPF and
percentage attainment of the IPF. Except for the CEO whose entire annual bonus depends upon the CPF, 20% of each other NEO’s annual bonus is also
dependent upon such individual’s IPF. At the end of the year, our Compensation Committee approves the extent to which we achieved the CPF based on
achievement of'the corporate goals. The extent to which each individual Named Executive Officer achieves his or her IPF is determined based on our Chief
Executive Officer’s review and recommendation to our Compensation Committee, except our Chief Executive Officer and our other Named Executive
Officers do not make recommendations with respect to their own achievement, and our Compensation Committee makes the final decisions with respect to
each IPF. Additionally, our Compensation Committee has the discretion to determine the weighting of each ofthe goals that comprise the CPF and IPF. Our
Compensation Committee may award a bonus in an amount above or below the amount resulting from the calculation described above, based on other factors
that our Compensation Committee determines, in its sole discretion, are material to our corporate performance and provide appropriate incentives to our
executives, for example based on events or circumstances that arise after the original CPF and IPF goals are set. Our Compensation Committee did not
exercise any such discretion in 2018.

Each Named Executive Officer’s target bonus for 2018, represented as a percentage of base salary, or a target bonus percentage, was 50% of base salary,
with the exception of Mr. Hagan’s target bonus percentage, which was increased to 60% of base salary. The Compensation Committee increased Mr. Hagan’s
target bonus as a retentive measure and to further incentivize Mr. Hagan’s efforts in reducing overall spend while working to resume the RGLS4326 clinical
program and restoring shareholder value. The Compensation Committee determined the target bonuses of each of our other NEOs should be consistent to
promote internal equity and reinforce teamwork across our leadership team.

The CPF and IPF goals are determined by our Compensation Committee and communicated to our Named Executive Officers each year, prior to or
shortly following the beginning of the year to which they relate. The CPF is composed of several goals that relate to our annual corporate goals and various
business accomplishments which vary from time to time depending on our overall strategic objectives. The IPF is composed of factors that relate to each
Named Executive Officer’s ability to drive his or her own performance and the performance of his or her direct employee reports towards reaching our
corporate goals. The proportional emphasis placed on each goal within the CPF and IPF may vary from time to time depending on our overall strategic
objectives and our Compensation Committee’s subjective determination of which goals have more impact on our performance.

For 2018, the CPF goals related to the conservation of our cash while continuing to advance our most promising programs. The specific CPF goals were
as follows:

»  secure access to capital to fund the Company through mid-2020;

* resolve the Sanofi partnership;

*  complete interim (13 week) RGLS4326 chronic mouse toxicology study;

» advance Hepatitis B virus program toward a clinical candidate nomination;

+ reduce operating cash bum to less than $20 million per year (annualized) by year end;

* restructure the Oxford debt to provide additional interest-only period in the second halfof2018; and
+  right-size our facility and lease obligations.

In December 2018, after careful review, our Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of our Compensation Committee, concluded that we had
achieved 75% of our CPF goals, based on the following:

+ we did not secure capital to fund the Company through mid-2020; however, we did put in place a Common Stock Sales Agreement for “at-the-
market” equity offerings;
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* in November 2018, we entered into an amendment with Sanofi which transitioned further development of the RG-012 to Sanofi in exchange
for consideration of up to $46.8 million, including approximately $6.8 million in upfront payments and payments for program-related
materials;

*  we substantially completed the interim 13-week analysis concerning the repeat mouse toxicology study by the end 0f2018;

* we advanced the Hepatitis B virus program toward a clinical candidate but we did not nominate a clinical candidate;

+  we entered into a term sheet with Nitto Pharma to swap our current facility for Nitto Pharma’s facility which resulted in savings of $14 million
in the aggregate over the remainder of our lease term upon the execution of the related lease agreements in February 2019;

* ourannualized operating cash burn was substantially reduced, but we did not reduce operating cash burn to less than $20 million per year
(annualized); and

*  we amended our debt with Oxford to provide for an additional interest only period and further restructured the debt after our amendment with
Sanofi.

The IPF goals varied by individual and included individual performance contributions towards maintaining a leading position in microRNA research,
accelerating efforts in microRNA therapeutic development, supporting our growth with additional capital, fostering a culture of value creation, attracting and
retaining key talent and building good processes and policies. Our Chief Executive Officer did not have IPF goals as his bonus is entirely dependent on our
CPF goals, because our Chief Executive Officer has a direct impact on, and responsibility for, our corporate performance.

Based on our CEO’s recommendations with respect to each Named Executive Officer, and our Compensation Committee’s deliberations with respect to
each Named Executive Officer’s individual performance against the IPF, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved performance-based
bonuses for each of our Named Executive Officers in amounts reflected in the Summary Compensation Table above based on a 75% CPF and 100% IPF,
weighted 80% and 20%, respectively, except for our Chief Executive Officer, whose bonus was weighted 100% on CPF goals.

Equity-Based Incentive Awards

Equity incentives are a key component of our executive compensation program that the Compensation Committee believes motivate executive officers
to achieve our business objectives by tying incentives to the appreciation of our common stock and, in the case of performance-vesting awards, measurable
performance goals. In the past, we have primarily granted equity awards in the form of stock options that vest based on achievement of specific Company
performance goals and/or continued service. In the second half 0f2018, the Compensation Committee assessed the stock options held by Named Executive
Officers and determined it was critical to take action to provide the appropriate incentives to retain, motivate and reward our executive officers and other
employees through our continuing time of transition. Accordingly, in late 2018, the Compensation Committee introduced performance-vesting restricted
stock units through a tender offer that is described below.

Performance-Vesting RSUs. In November 2018, each of our Named Executive Officers received performance-vesting RSUs in the exchange for
cancelling all of their stock options, in the amounts listed below, in a value-for-value tender offer we extended to all of our employees, which is described
below. As a result, at year-end 2018, each of our NEOs held only performance-vesting RSUs which had not begun to vest. All tendered stock options were
simultaneously cancelled.

Options Tendered (# of Performance-Vesting RSUs (PSUs) (# of
Name shares) shares)
Joseph P. Hagan 278,714 188,385
Timothy Wright, M.D. 181,862 116,677
Daniel Chevallard 83,972 55,414

The performance-vesting RSUs vest and can be earned only if performance goals key to our future success are achieved (in addition to continued
service), thereby further incentivizing our Named Executive Officers to achieve these goals to drive increases in our long-term value for stockholders.
Specifically, the RSUs will only be eligible to vest if the Board or Committee certifies, in its sole discretion, that any one of the following three performance
goals has been attained within two (2) years following the grant date of the RSUs:

1. the completion of a strategic transaction or financing that the Board, in its sole discretion, determines is reasonably expected to provide adequate
cash runway for achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives;
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2. the Company advances its pipeline by either entering into an agency agreement to resume Phase I clinical trials for its RGLS4326 product
candidate for the treatment of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (“ADPKD”) or patient enrollment of a Phase II clinical trial for RG-012 for the
treatment of Alport syndrome resumes; or

3. the Company submits an investigational new drug application (“IND”) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for a new program (e.g.,
a program targeting the hepatitis B virus (“HBV”) or hepatitis C virus (“HCV”) and the IND becomes effective.

Each of our Named Executive Officers were granted stock options in 2018 that were among the options cancelled in the tender offer in exchange for the
performance-vesting RSUs. The 2018 stock option grants included options that vested over time and options that vested pursuant to the achievement of
specified outcomes concerning our current and future clinical development plans.

Tender Offer. In October 0f 2018, the Board upon recommendation from the Compensation Committee authorized a tender offer under which employees
and non-employee members of our Board could tender eligible stock option grants in exchange for performance-vesting RSUs in a “value-for-value”
exchange. As of the date of tender offer, 100% of our outstanding stock options were “out-of-the-money,” meaning the exercise price of each of those options
was greater than our stock price, with exercise prices ranging from $4.56 to over $200 per share; a significant portion of these options had been “out-of-the-
money” for more than two years. Specifically, all stock options granted between February 2012 and October 2016 had been “out-of-the-money” in their
entirety for more than two years. This meant that our historically granted stock options may have had little or no perceived value to our employees and
service providers who held them and therefore no longer effective as incentives to motivate and retain these individuals.

The Board believed that it was critical to our future success to revitalize the incentive value of certain of our outstanding equity awards to retain and
motivate employees and directors and recreate a personal stake in the long-term financial success of Regulus, and thereby align their interests with those of
our stockholders. The Board believed and continues to believe that with the proper balance between the long term components of our compensation structure
(i.e., longer-term equity awards) and its short term components (i.e., salary, bonus and shorter-term equity awards), our service providers will be properly
motivated to align their interests with those of the stockholders and work toward reward for their contributions based upon increases in stock value. The
Board also recognizes our competition’s ability to attract and recruit top talent and views it as critical that Regulus be able to retain and motivate key
employees in this way.

On November 11,2018, eligible options were exchanged for RSUs pursuant to an exchange ratio on a value-for-value basis using a 20-day VWAP and
the closing price of our stock on the date of exchange. The new RSUs that our employees received in the exchange offer can be earned only if performance
goals key to our future success are achieved (in addition to continued service). The specific goals and structure of these performance-vesting RSUs are
described above under “Performance-Vesting RSUs”.

Other Compensation

Our Named Executive Officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, including our medical, dental, vision, group life and
disability insurance plans, in each case on the same basis as other employees. We also pay the premiums for term life insurance and long-term disability for
all of our employees, including our Named Executive Officers. None of our Named Executive Officers participate in or have account balances in qualified or
non-qualified defined benefit plans sponsored by us. We generally do not provide perquisites or personal benefits to our Named Executive Officers, although
we may from time to time provide signing bonuses or other reasonable benefits as our Compensation Committee determines appropriate.

All of our full-time employees in the United States, including our Named Executive Officers, are eligible to participate in our 401(k) plan, which is a
retirement savings defined contribution plan established in accordance with Section 401(a) of the Code. Pursuant to our 401(k) plan, employees may elect to
defer their eligible compensation into the plan on a pre-tax basis, up to the statutorily prescribed annual limit of $18,500 in 2018 (additional salary deferrals
not to exceed $6,000 are available to those employees 50 years of age or older) and to have the amount of this reduction contributed to our 401(k) plan. In
2018, we provided a $0.50 match for every dollar our employees elect to defer up to 6% of their eligible compensation. In general, eligible compensation for
purposes of the 401(k) plan includes an employee’s wages, salaries, fees for professional services and other amounts received for personal services actually
rendered in the course of employment with us to the extent the amounts are includible in gross income, and subject to certain adjustments and exclusions
required under the Code. The 401(k) plan currently does not offer the ability to invest in our securities.
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Agreements with Named Executive Officers

Employment Agreements. We entered into employment agreements with each of our Named Executive Officers. The agreements provide for at will
employment and for certain base salary, target bonus and severance payments to our Named Executive Officers.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Hagan. In December 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Hagan, with an effective date of
January 1,2016. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Hagan is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $415,000 and is eligible to receive an
annual performance bonus, with a target bonus amount 0f 40% of his annual base salary. Mr. Hagan’s base salary and target bonus are subject to periodic
review and adjustment from time to time in the discretion of our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee and have been subsequently increased.
Pursuant to Mr. Hagan’s employment agreement, we agreed to pay Mr. Hagan a signing bonus of $100,000, payable in a lump sum upon Mr. Hagan’s
commencement of employment with us. All or a portion of the signing bonus is repayable in the event Mr. Hagan is terminated for cause or if he voluntarily
resigns without good reason within the first three years of his employment, which amount varied depending on when such termination or resignation occurs
within such three-year period. In May 2017, Mr. Hagan was appointed as our President and CEO. At that time, his base salary was increased to $500,000 and
his target bonus was increased to 50%. Additionally, Mr. Hagan’s employment agreement provides for the grant of stock option awards, which were made in
January 2016. Pursuant to Mr. Hagan’s employment agreement, all outstanding stock options subject to vesting based on Company performance that are held
by Mr. Hagan immediately before a change in control shall become fully vested and exercisable as of immediately before, and contingent upon, the change
in control, provided that Mr. Hagan remains employed by us as of such date.

If we terminate Mr. Hagan’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or complete disability) or if Mr. Hagan resigns for good reason at
any time other than during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a change in control, Mr. Hagan will receive, subject to
receiving an effective release and waiver of claims from him, (1) a lump sum severance payment equal to 12 months of his base salary in effect at the time of
such termination or resignation (disregarding any decrease that forms the basis for a resignation for good reason), (2) a lump sum cash amount equal to
229.56% multiplied by the total cost of the projected premiums for group medical, dental and vision insurance for a period of 12 months and (3) vesting
acceleration of all outstanding options and other equity incentive awards subject to time-based vesting held by Mr. Hagan as of such termination or
resignation.

If we terminate Mr. Hagan’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or complete disability) or if Mr. Hagan resigns for good reason, in
each case during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a change in control, in addition to the severance payment
described above, we will also be obligated to pay Mr. Hagan, subject to receiving an effective release and waiver of claims from him, a lump sum payment
equal to the target amount of Mr. Hagan’s annual performance bonus for the year of termination or resignation.

Employment Agreement with Dr. Wright. In October 2016, we entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Wright, with an effective date of
October 3, 2016. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Dr. Wright is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $450,000 and is eligible to receive an
annual performance bonus, with a target bonus amount 0f 40% of his annual base salary. Dr. Wright’s base salary and target bonus are subject to periodic
review and adjustment from time to time in the discretion of our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee and have been subsequently increased.
Pursuant to Dr. Wright’s employment agreement, we agreed to pay Dr. Wright a signing bonus of $110,000, payable in a lump sum upon Dr. Wright’s
commencement of employment with us. All or a portion of the signing bonus is repayable in the event Dr. Wright is terminated for cause or if he voluntarily
resigns without good reason within the first three years of his employment, which amount varies depending on when such termination or resignation occurs
within such three-year period. Additionally, Dr. Wright’s employment agreement provides for the grant of stock option awards, which were made in October
2016. Pursuant to Dr. Wright’s employment agreement, all outstanding stock options subject to vesting based on Company performance that are held by
Dr. Wright immediately before a change in control shall become fully vested and exercisable as of immediately before, and contingent upon, the change in
control, provided that Dr. Wright remains employed by us as of such date. In March 2019, Dr. Wright voluntarily terminated his employment. In lieu of
repayment of the sums owed to us as a result of signing bonus, we agreed to waive the sum of $36,666 in consideration of a consulting arrangement following
the effective date of Dr. Wright’s termination date.

Prior to Dr. Wright’s voluntary termination, if we had terminated Dr. Wright’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or complete
disability) or if Dr. Wright resigned for good reason at any time other than during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a
change in control, Dr. Wright was eligible to receive, subject to receiving an effective release and waiver of claims from him, (1) a lump sum severance
payment equal to 12 months of his base salary in effect at the time of such termination or resignation (disregarding any decrease that forms the basis fora
resignation for good
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reason), (2) a lump sum cash amount equal to 229.56% multiplied by the total cost of the projected premiums for group medical, dental and vision insurance
for a period of 12 months and (3) vesting acceleration of all outstanding options and other equity incentive awards subject to time-based vesting held by
Dr. Wright as of such termination or resignation.

In addition, prior to Dr. Wright’s voluntary termination, if we had terminated Dr. Wright’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or
complete disability) or if Dr. Wright resigned for good reason, in each case during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a
change in control, in addition to the severance payment described above, we were also obligated to pay Dr. Wright, subject to receiving an effective release
and waiver of claims from him, a lump sum payment equal to the target amount of Dr. Wright’s annual performance bonus for the year of termination or
resignation. As a result of his voluntary termination, Dr. Wright did not receive any severance benefits and is no longer entitled to any severance benefits
under his employment agreement.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Chevallard. In May 2017, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Chevallard upon
his elevation to Chief Financial Officer with an effective date of May 24,2017. Pursuant to his amended and restated employment agreement, Mr. Chevallard
is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $300,000 and is eligible to receive an annual performance bonus, with a target bonus amount 0f40% of his
annual base salary. Mr. Chevallard’s base salary and target bonus are subject to periodic review and adjustment from time to time in the discretion of our
Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee and have been subsequently increased. Additionally, upon Mr. Chevallard’s elevation to Chief Financial
Officer, he was also provided an additional grant of stock option awards, which were made in May 2017, as further described above under “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis - 2017 Stock Option Grants.” Pursuant to Mr. Chevallard’s employment agreement, all outstanding stock options subject to vesting
based on Company performance that are held by Mr. Chevallard immediately before a change in control shall become fully vested and exercisable as of
immediately before, and contingent upon, the change in control, provided that Mr. Chevallard remains employed by us as of such date.

If we terminate Mr. Chevallard’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or complete disability) or if Mr. Chevallard resigns for good
reason at any time other than during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a change in control, Mr. Chevallard will
receive, subject to receiving an effective release and waiver of claims from him, (1) a lump sum severance payment equal to 12 months of his base salary in
effect at the time of such termination or resignation (disregarding any decrease that forms the basis for a resignation for good reason), (2) a lump sum cash
amount equal to 229.56% multiplied by the total cost of the projected premiums for group medical, dental and vision insurance for a period of 12 months and
(3) vesting acceleration of all outstanding options and other equity incentive awards subject to time-based vesting held by Mr. Chevallard as of such
termination or resignation.

If we terminate Mr. Chevallard’s employment without cause (other than due to his death or complete disability) or if Mr. Chevallard resigns for good
reason, in each case during the period beginning one month before and ending 12 months following a change in control, in addition to the severance
payment described above, we will also be obligated to pay Mr. Chevallard, subject to receiving an effective release and waiver of claims from him, a lump
sum payment equal to the target amount of Mr. Chevallard’s annual performance bonus for the year of termination or resignation.

None of the Named Executive Officers’ employment agreement provide for the gross up of any excise taxes imposed by Section 4999 of the Code. If any
of the payments under the employment agreements would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, subject to the
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, the employment agreements provide for a best-after tax analysis with respect to such payments, under which
the executive will receive whichever of the following two alternative forms of payment would result in the executive officer’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of
the greater amount of the transaction payment notwithstanding that all or some portion of the transaction payment may be subject to the excise tax:

(i) payment in full of the entire amount of the transaction payment, or (ii) payment of only a part of the transaction payment so that the executive receives the
largest payment possible without the imposition of the excise tax.

Change in Control and Severance Benefits

Under the terms of the employment agreements with each of our Named Executive Officers described above, either we or the executive may terminate the
executive’s employment at any time. Each of our Named Executive Officers is eligible, under the terms of his respective employment agreement, to receive,
in exchange for a release of claims, severance benefits upon the termination of his employment either by us without cause or by him for good reason, with
additional severance benefits provided in the event the termination is in connection with a change in control. In addition, the terms of the equity awards
granted to our Named Executive Officers are subject to the terms of our equity plans and award agreements thereunder, which
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includes accelerated vesting provisions upon certain material change in control transactions. We do not provide any excise tax gross ups on change-in-

control benefits.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table shows certain information regarding outstanding equity awards as of December 31,2018 for the Named Executive Officers:

Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout
Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights

Name Grant Date Awards (#)(1) that Have Not Vested ($)(3)
Joseph P. Hagan 11/12/2018 188,385 (2) 175,198
Timothy Wright, M.D. 11/12/2018 116,677 (2) 108,510
Daniel Chevallard 11/12/2018 55,414 (2) 51,535

(1)  All of the stock awards were granted under the 2012 Plan. The terms of the 2012 Plan are described below under “Equity Compensation
Plans and Other Benefit Plans.”

(2) Consists of performance-vesting RSUs granted to each Named Executive Officer in the tender offer, which vest as described above under
“Equity Based Incentive Awards-Tender Offer”. The specified performance goals for vesting of the RSUs had not occurred prior to
December 31,2018. Upon achievement of the performance goal, 50% of the shares subject to the award vest with the remaining shares
vesting on a quarterly basis over the two years following the vesting commencement date, provided the executive continues to provide
services to us through such dates. Each named executive officer exchanged all of his stock options in exchange for the performance-vesting
RSUs in the tender offer. The number of shares underlying outstanding stock options held by each Named Executive Officers as of
immediately before the tender offer exchange in November 2018 were as follows: Mr. Hagan: 278,714 shares; Dr. Wright: 181,862 shares;
Mr. Chevallard: 83,972 shares.

(3) Represents the number of unearned, unvested RSUs multiplied by the closing stock price as of December 31,2018.
Equity Compensation Plans.

Since October 2012, all stock options and RSUs have been granted pursuant to our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) or the 2015 Inducement
Plan (“2015 Inducement Plan”), the terms of which are described below.

2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

The 2012 Plan, which became effective in connection with our initial public offering in October 2012, provides for the grant of incentive stock options,
or ISOs, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, nonstatutory stock options, or NSOs, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted
stock unit awards, performance-based stock awards, and other forms of equity compensation, or collectively, stock awards. Additionally, the 2012 Plan
provides for the grant of performance cash awards. ISOs may be granted only to employees, subject to certain limitations. All other awards may be granted to
employees, including officers, and to non-employee directors and consultants.

Our Board of Directors, or a duly authorized committee thereof, has the authority to administer the 2012 Plan. Our Board of Directors has delegated its
authority to administer the 2012 Plan to our Compensation Committee under the terms of our Compensation Committee’s charter. Our Board of Directors
may also delegate certain authority to one or more of our officers. Our Board of Directors or its authorized committee is referred to herein as the plan
administrator.

Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, vest at the rate
specified by the plan administrator (often over a four-year period) and may have a term up to a maximum of 10 years. The exercise price for an ISO or NSO
generally cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Unless the terms of an optionee’s stock option
agreement provides otherwise, if an optionee’s service relationship with us, or any of our affiliates, ceases for any reason other than disability, death or cause,
the optionee may generally exercise any vested options for a period of three months following the cessation of service. The option term may be extended in
the event that exercise of the option following such a termination of service is prohibited by applicable securities laws or our insider trading policy. If an
optionee’s service relationship with us, or any of our affiliates, ceases due to disability or death, or an optionee dies within a certain period following
cessation of service, the optionee or a beneficiary may generally exercise any vested options for a period of 12 months in the event of disability and
18 months in the event of death. In the event of a termination for cause, options generally terminate immediately upon the termination of the individual. In
no event may an option be exercised beyond the expiration of its term. Restricted stock units generally stop
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vesting upon the holder’s termination of service with us and any unvested restricted stock units are forfeited, unless otherwise provided in an agreement with
the holder.

Corporate transactions. In the event of certain specified significant corporate transactions (as defined in the 2012 Plan), the plan administrator has the
discretion to take any of'the following actions with respect to stock awards:

» arrange for the assumption, continuation or substitution of a stock award by a surviving or acquiring entity or parent company;

e arrange for the assignment of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by us to the surviving or acquiring entity or parent company;
* accelerate the vesting of the stock award and provide for its termination prior to the effective time of the corporate transaction;

» arrange for the lapse of any reacquisition or repurchase right held by us;

« cancel orarrange for the cancellation of the stock award in exchange for such cash consideration, if any, as our Board of Directors may deem
appropriate; or

« make a payment equal to the excess of (a) the value of the property the participant would have received upon exercise of the stock award over (b) the
exercise price otherwise payable in connection with the stock award.

Change in control. The plan administrator may provide, in an individual award agreement or in any other written agreement between a participant and
us, that the stock award will be subject to additional acceleration of vesting and exercisability in the event of a change in control (as defined in the 2012
Plan). For example, a stock award may provide for accelerated vesting upon the participant’s termination without cause or resignation for good reason in
connection with a change in control. In the absence of such a provision, no such acceleration of the stock award will occur.

2015 Inducement Plan.

The 2015 Inducement Plan, which was adopted by our Board of Directors in July of2015, provides for the grant of NSOs, which may be granted only to
persons as a material inducement to their commencement of employment with us, pursuant to Rule 5635(c)(4) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules.

Our Board of Directors, or a duly authorized committee thereof, has the authority to administer the 2015 Inducement Plan. Our Board of Directors has
delegated its authority to administer the 2015 Inducement Plan to our Compensation Committee under the terms of our Compensation Committee’s charter.
Grants under the 2015 Inducement Plan must be approved by the Compensation Committee (comprised of independent directors) or a majority of our
independent directors (as defined in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules) in order to comply with the exemption from the stockholder approval
requirement for “inducement grants” provided under Rule 5635(c)(4) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules. The terms of Inducement Plan and NSOs granted
thereunder are generally the same as the terms of our 2012 Plan as it relates to NSOs granted under our 2012 Plan.

2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Additional long-term equity incentives are provided through the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which became effective in
connection with our initial public offering in October 2012. The ESPP is intended to qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” within the meaning of
Section 423 of the Code. Our Board of Directors has delegated its authority to administer the ESPP to our Compensation Committee. Under the ESPP,
generally all of our regular employees (including our Named Executive Officers during their employment with us) may participate and may contribute,
normally through payroll deductions, up to 15% of their earnings for the purchase of our common stock. The ESPP is implemented through a series of
offerings of purchase rights to eligible employees. Under the ESPP, we may specify offerings with a duration of not more than six months, and may specify
shorter purchase periods within each offering. Each offering will have one or more purchase dates on which our common stock will be purchased for
employees participating in the offering. Unless otherwise determined by our Compensation Committee, shares are purchased for accounts of employees
participating in the ESPP at a price per share equal to the lower of (a) 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the first date of an offering or
(b) 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of purchase.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table shows certain information with respect to the compensation of all non-employee directors of the Company for the fiscal year ended
December31,2018:

Fees Earned

or Paid in Option
Cash Awards Stock Awards Total

Name &) $)2) (©IC)) $)

David Baltimore, Ph.D. 13,500 66,035 (4) 20,056 99,591
Kathryn J. Collier - 100,227 (5) 19,246 119,473
Mark Foletta(® 16,000 - 12,899 28,899
Stelios Papadopoulos, Ph.D. 21,500 66,035 (4) 39,904 127,439
William H. Rastetter, Ph.D. 15,500 66,035 (4) 28,767 110,302
Hugh Rosen, M.D., Ph.D. 12,500 66,035 (4) 23,199 101,734
Pascale Witz 13,500 66,035 25,056 104,591

(1)  Amounts listed represent cash payments made for Board and Committee service which were earned in 2018 but were paid in 2019.

(2)  Amounts listed represent the aggregate grant date fair value amount computed as of the grant date of each option awarded during
2018 in accordance with ASC 718. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 10 to the Financial
Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. As a result of our tender offer in November
2018, each ofthe option awards held by the our non-employee directors (including those granted in 2018 and reflected in the table
above) were exchanged for RSUs that vest in equal three-month installments over the twelve-month period following the grant date
of'the RSU, subject to each director’s continuous service to us through such vesting dates. The tender offer was a “value-for-value”
exchange and constituted a repricing of each of the director’s outstanding stock option awards, as of November 9, 2018. For each of
our non-employee directors, the incremental fair value of the repriced awards, computed as of the repricing date in accordance with
ASC 718, was zero.

3) Represents RSUs granted to each of our non-employee directors in lieu of cash compensation during 2018. The RSUs will vest in
four equal quarterly installments on the last day of each calendar quarter during 2018, subject to each director’s continuous service
to us through such vesting dates. The RSUs were calculated based upon a grant price of $0.89 divided by the total cash
compensation which otherwise would have been paid to each such director during 2018 for each director’s board and committee
service. As of December 31,2018, the aggregate number of RSUs outstanding (including RSUs issued pursuant to the tender offer
in November 2018) was as follows: Dr. Baltimore, 20,548 RSUs; Ms. Collier, 14,659 RSUs; Dr. Papadopoulos, 13,315 RSUs; Dr.
Rastetter, 13,890 RSUs; Dr. Rosen, 13,036 RSUs; and Ms. Witz 12,655 RSUs.

“4) Represents the annual option grant to purchase shares of our common stock granted to each of our non-employee directors serving
on June 1,2018 under our non-employee director compensation policy, as further described below.

) Represents an initial option grant to purchase shares of our common stock granted to Ms. Collier upon her election to our Board of
Directors in April 2018 as well as the annual option grant to purchase shares of our common stock granted to each of our non-
employee directors serving on June 1,2018 under our non-employee director compensation policy, as further described below.

6) Mr. Foletta did not stand for re-election in 2018 and therefore received compensation until June 1, 2018, his last day of board
service.

Directors who are also employees do not receive cash or equity compensation for service on our Board of Directors in addition to the compensation
payable for their service as our employees. We have a non-employee director compensation policy, or our director compensation policy, that became
effective following our initial public offering. Under our director compensation policy, our Compensation Committee determines individual non-employee
members of our Board of Directors who will be eligible to receive compensation and who we refer to as our Eligible Directors. All of our non-employee
directors were Eligible Directors for 2018 compensation under our director compensation policy. Pursuant to our director compensation policy in effect in
2018, we provide cash compensation in the form of an annual retainer of $40,000 to each of our Eligible Directors and $70,000 to our Chairman of the Board.
We also pay an additional annual retainer of $20,000 to the chairman of our Audit Committee, $10,000 to other independent Eligible Directors who serve on
our Audit Committee, $12,000 to the chairman of our Compensation Committee, $6,000 to other independent Eligible Directors who serve on our
Compensation Committee, $8,000 to the chairman of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and $4,000 to other independent Eligible
Directors who serve on our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. We have reimbursed and will continue
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to reimburse our non-employee directors for travel, lodging and other reasonable expenses incurred in attending meetings of our Board of Directors and
committees of our Board of Directors

Pursuant to our director compensation policy in effect in 2018, each Eligible Director who was first elected to our Board of Directors was granted an
option to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock on the date of his or her initial election to our Board of Directors valued at $300,000 as
determined by the Black Scholes method on the date of grant. In addition, on the date of each annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, each Eligible
Director was eligible to receive an option to purchase shares of common stock valued at $150,000 as determined by the Black Scholes method on the date of
grant. Such initial and annual options had an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. In March 2017,
due to the Company’s cash position at year end 2017, the Board of Directors approved an award of RSUs in lieu of cash payments to be made to each eligible
director during 2018. The RSUs vested in four quarterly installments at the end of each calendar quarter during 2018 and were fully vested as of December
31,2018.

In March 2017, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, also approved a change to the initial option grants
and annual option grants that would be made to each Eligible Director in 2017 under our director compensation policy, such that a new director would
receive an initial grant of 5,000 shares and existing directors would receive annual grants 02,500 shares of our common stock (on a post 1 for 12 split basis),
each with a grant price equal to the closing price of our stock on the date of grant.

Each initial option granted to such Eligible Directors described above will vest and become exercisable with respect to one-third of the shares subject to
the option on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the balance of the shares will vest and become exercisable in a series of 24 equal monthly
installments thereafter, such that the option is fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the Eligible Director continuing to provide
services to us through such dates. Each annual option granted to such Eligible Directors described above will vest and become exercisable in 12 equal
monthly installments such that the option will be fully vested on the first anniversary of the date of grant, or as of the date of the next annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders, whichever occurs first and subject to the Eligible Director continuing to provide services to us through such dates. The term of each
option granted to an Eligible Directoris 10 years.

The options are granted under our 2012 Plan, the terms of which are described in more detail above under “Equity Compensation Plans and Other
Benefit Plans-2012 Equity Incentive Plan.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the ownership of the Company’s common stock as of March 31,2019 by: (i) each of our
directors; (ii) each of our Named Executive Officers as defined above under the heading “Executive Compensation”; (iii) each person known by us to
beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock and (iv) all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting and investment power with respect to the securities.
This table is based upon information supplied by officers, directors and principal stockholders and Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the SEC. Except as
indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, we believe the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power
with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 10,807,723 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 31,2019. The number of shares of common
stock used to calculate the percentage ownership of each listed person includes the shares of common stock underlying options held by such persons that are
exercisable, or restricted stock units which will vest, within 60 days following March 31,2019. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for the persons and
entities listed in the table below is ¢/o Regulus Therapeutics Inc., 10628 Science Center Drive, Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121.
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Beneficial Owner
Greater than 5% Stockholders
BVF Partners, LP (1)

1 Sansome Street, 30th Floor
San Francisco, California 94104

New Enterprise Associates (2)

1954 Greenspring Dr., Suite 600
Timonium, Maryland 21093

Aventisub LLC (3)

c/o Sanofi
54, rue La Boétie
75414 Paris-France

Named Executive Officers and Directors
David Baltimore, Ph.D.

Kathryn J. Collier

Daniel R. Chevallard (4)

Joseph P. Hagan (5)

Stelios Papadopoulos, Ph.D.

William H. Rastetter, Ph.D.

Hugh Rosen, M.D., Ph.D.

Timothy Wright, M.D.(6)

Pascale Witz, MBA, MSc

All current executive officers and directors as a group (9 persons) (7)

Beneficial Ownership

Number of Percent of
Shares Total
1,051,940 9.7%
915,750 8.5%
725,543 6.7%
15,330 <
20,086 *
12,497 o
38,118 *
822,831 7.6%
64,807 *
11,198 o
34,388 *
11,383 <
1,007,330 9.3%
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* Less than one percent.

1) Consists of shares beneficially owned, or that may be deemed to be beneficially owned, by Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., including
(1) 511,693 shares of our common stock BVF beneficially owned, (ii) 326,555 shares of our common stock BVF2 beneficially owned, and
(iii) 87,461 shares of our common stock Trading Fund OS beneficially owned. Partners OS, as the general partner of Trading Fund OS,
may be deemed to beneficially own the 87,461 shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Trading Fund OS. Partners, as the general
partner of BVF, BVF2, the investment manager of Trading Fund OS, and the sole member of Partners OS, may be deemed to beneficially
own the 1,051,940 shares of common stock beneficially owned in the aggregate by BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS, and a certain Partners
managed account (the “Partners Managed Account”), including 126,231 shares of Common Stock held in the Partners Managed
Account. BVF Inc., as the general partner of Partners, may be deemed to beneficially own the 1,051,940 common stock beneficially
owned by Partners. Mark M. Lampert (“Mr. Lambert”), as a director and officer of BVF Inc., may be deemed to beneficially own the
1,051,940 common stock beneficially owned by BVF Inc. Partners OS disclaims beneficial ownership of the common stock beneficially
owned by Trading Fund OS. Each of Partners, BVF Inc. and Mr. Lampert disclaims beneficial ownership of the common stock
beneficially owned by BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS, and the Partners Managed Account.

) Consists of shares beneficially owned, or that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by, (a) Growth Equity Opportunities Fund V,
LLC (“GEO”); (b) New Enterprise Associates 16, L.P. (“NEA 16”), which is the sole member of GEO, NEA Partners 16, L.P. (“NEA
Partners 16”), which is the sole general partner of NEA 16; and NEA 16 GP, LLC (“NEA 16 LLC” and, together with NEA Partners 16, the
“Control Entities”), which is the sole general partner of NEA Partners 16; and (c) Peter J. Barris (“Barris”), Forest Baskett (“Baskett”),
Anthony A. Florence, Jr. (“Florence”), Mohamad H. Makhzoumi (“Makhzoumi”), Joshua Makower (“Makower”), David M. Mott
(“Mott”), Chetan Puttagunta (“Puttagunta”), Jon M. Sakoda (“Sakoda”), Scott D. Sandell (“Sandell”), Peter W. Sonsini (“Sonsini”’) and
Ravi Viswanathan (“Viswanathan”) (together, the “Managers”). The Managers are the managers of NEA 16 LLC. The persons named
herein are referred to individually herein as a “Reporting Person” and collectively as the “Reporting Persons.” GEO is the record owner
of the GEO Shares. As the sole member of GEO, NEA 16 may be deemed to own beneficially the GEO Shares. As the general partner of
NEA 16, NEA Partners 16 may be deemed to own beneficially the GEO Shares. As the sole general partner of NEA Partners 16, NEA 16
LLC may be deemed to own beneficially the GEO Shares. As members of NEA 16 LLC, each of the Managers may be deemed to own
beneficially the GEO Shares. Each Reporting Person disclaims beneficial ownership of the GEO Shares other than those shares which
such person owns of record.

3) Aventisub LLC is a subsidiary of Sanofi. Sanofi has the ability to exercise voting and dispositive power over the shares held by
Aventisub LLC.

“4) Includes 3,125 shares that Mr. Chevallard has the right to acquire from us within 60 days of March 31, 2019 pursuant to the exercise of
stock options.

) Includes 6,770 shares that Mr. Hagan has the right to acquire from us within 60 days of March 31, 2018.
6) Includes 4,165 shares that Dr. Wright has the right to acquire from us within 60 days of March 31,2018.

7) Includes all shares described under “Named Executive Officers and Directors,” with the exception of those shares described in Note 6 and
also including shares held or issuable upon early exercise of stock options by an executive officer who is not named in the table above.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2018, with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing
equity compensation plans:
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(a) (b) (c)
Number of securities
Number of remaining available for
securities to be future issuance under
issued upon exercise Weighted-average equity compensation
of outstanding exercise price of plans (excluding
options, awards, warrants outstanding options, awards, securities reflected in
Plan Category and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders:
2009 Equity Incentive Plan 1,497 (1) $26.63 -
2012 Equity Incentive Plan 658,754 (2) $65.02 454,199
2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan - - 155,056
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders:
83,333

2015 Inducement Plan - -

(1)  All shares issuable upon exercise of options.

(2) Consists of 57,745 shares issuable upon exercise of options and 519,901 performance-based restricted stock units issuable only upon the prior
achievement of a specific milestone related to the Company’s objectives and 88,108 restricted stock units issued to the Company’s Board of Directors
upon completion of the tender offer in November 2018 which remained unvested as of December 31,2018.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

We have adopted a written related-person transactions policy that sets forth our policies and procedures regarding the identification, review,
consideration, approval and oversight of “related-person transactions.” For purposes of our policy only, a “related-person transaction” is a past, present or
future transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which we and any “related person” are
participants involving an amount that exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets at year end of the last two completed fiscal

years.

Transactions involving compensation for services provided to us by an employee, consultant or director are not considered related-person transactions
under this policy. A “related person,” as determined since the beginning of our last fiscal year, is any executive officer, director or a holder of more than five
percent of our common stock, including any of their immediate family members and any entity owned or controlled by such persons.

The policy imposes an affirmative duty upon each director and executive officer to identify any transaction involving them, their affiliates or
immediate family members that may be considered a related party transaction before such person engages in the transaction. Under the policy, where a
transaction has been identified as a related-person transaction, management must present information regarding the proposed related-person transaction to
our audit committee (or, where review by our audit committee would be inappropriate, to another independent body of our board of directors) for review. The
presentation must include a description of, among other things, the material facts, the direct and indirect interests of the related persons, the benefits of the
transaction to us and whether any alternative transactions are available. In considering related-person transactions, our audit committee or other independent
body of our board of directors takes into account the relevant available facts and circumstances including, but not limited to:

¢ therisks, costs and benefits to us of the transaction;

» the impact on a director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity with which a
director is affiliated;

¢ the terms of the transaction;

* the availability of other sources for comparable services or products; and
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»  the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties or to or from our employees generally.

In the event a director has an interest in the proposed transaction, the director must recuse himself or herself from the deliberations and approval. Our
policy requires that, in reviewing a related party transaction, our audit committee must consider, in light of known circumstances, and determine in the good
faith exercise ofits discretion whether the transaction is in, or is not inconsistent with, the best interests of us and our stockholders.

We describe below transactions and series of similar transactions, since January 1, 2018, with respect to which we were a party, will be a party, or
otherwise benefited, in which:

* the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets at year end of the last two completed
fiscal years; and

» adirector, executive officer, holder of more than 5% of our common stock or any member of their immediate family had or will have a direct or
indirect material interest.

We also describe below certain other transactions with our directors, executive officers and stockholders. We believe that the terms obtained or
consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described below were comparable to terms available or the amounts
that would be paid or received, as applicable, in arm’s-length transactions.

Alliance and Collaboration Agreements
Sanofi

In February 2014, we amended and restated our 2012 amended and restated license and collaboration agreement with Sanofi, a greater than 5%
stockholder of the Company, extending our strategic alliance with Sanofi. Aventisub LLC (formerly Aventis Holdings Inc.) concurrently made a $10.0
million investment in our common stock at a purchase price of $7.67 per share, representing the average of the daily volume weighted average price per share
of our common stock during the 30 trading days ending on the date immediately preceding the date of the investment. In November 2018, we entered into an
amendment to the 2014 Sanofi Amendment with Sanofi to modify the parties’ rights and obligations with respect to our miR-21 programs, including our RG-
012 program (the “2018 Sanofi Amendment”). Under the terms of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, we have granted Sanofi a worldwide, royalty-free, fee-bearing,
exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under our know-how and patents to develop and commercialize miR-21 compounds and products for all
indications, including Alport Syndrome. Sanofi will control and will assume all responsibilities and obligations for developing and commercializing each of
our miR-21 programs, including our obligations regarding the administration and expense of clinical trials and all other costs, including in-license royalties
and other in-license payments, related to our miR-21 programs. Under the terms of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, we have assigned to Sanofi certain
agreements and all materials directed to miR-21 or to any miR-21 compound or product and are required to provide reasonable technical assistance to Sanofi
for a period of 24 months after the date of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment. Under the terms of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, we are eligible to receive
approximately $6.8 million in upfront payments for the license and for miR-21 program-related materials (collectively, the “Upfront Amendment Payments”).
We are also eligible to receive up to $40.0 million in development milestone payments. In addition, Sanofi has agreed to reimburse us for certain out-of-
pocket transition activities and assume our upstream license royalty obligations. We and Sanofi also agreed to a general release of claims against each other
for any claims that arose at any time prior to the date of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment, or that thereafter could arise based on anything that occurred prior to
the date of the 2018 Sanofi Amendment. In November 2018, we received $2.5 million of the approximately $6.8 million in Upfront Amendment Payments
under the 2018 Sanofi Amendment. In March 2019, we received $1.8 million in payment of materials purchased by Sanofi from us related to the RG-012
program.

In September 2014, we entered into an agreement with Sanofi-Aventis Deutschland GmbH (“Sanofi Deutschland”), a contract manufacturing subsidiary
of Sanofi, for the manufacture of certain drug substance requirements and other services to support our preclinical and clinical activities associated with the
RG-012 program. Pursuant to this agreement, we may engage Sanofi Deutschland from time-to-time to manufacture RG-012 drug product on our behalf. To
date, we have engaged Sanofi Deutschland to manufacture multiple cGMP batches of RG-012 and to perform stability testing and related activities at a cost
0f$1,831,992. These activities were ongoing during 2018 and in 2019 we paid Sanofi $45,000 for activities completed in 2018. Pursuant to the assignment
ofthe RG-012 program to Sanofi, we do not expect to incur any further material charges related to Sanofi Deutschland’s activities.
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Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, in addition to the indemnification provided for in
our bylaws. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors and executive officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees,
judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or executive officer in any action or proceeding arising out of his or her services as one of our
directors or executive officers or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request. We believe that these indemnification
agreements, together with the provisions in our bylaws, are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As required under the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) listing standards, a majority of the members of a listed company’s Board of Directors must
qualify as “independent,” as affirmatively determined by the Board of Directors. The Board consults with the Company’s counsel to ensure that the Board’s
determinations are consistent with relevant securities and other laws and regulations regarding the definition of “independent,” including those set forth in
pertinent listing standards of Nasdaq, as in effect from time to time.

Consistent with these considerations, after review of all relevant identified transactions or relationships between each director, or any of his family
members, and the Company, its senior management and its independent auditors, the Board has affirmatively determined that the following six directors are
independent directors within the meaning of the applicable Nasdaq listing standards: Dr. Baltimore, Ms. Collier, Dr. Papadopoulos, Dr. Rastetter, Dr. Rosen
and Ms. Witz. In making this determination, the Board found that none of these directors or nominees for director had a material or other disqualifying
relationship with the Company.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
AUDIT AND ALL OTHER FEES

The following table represents aggregate fees billed to the Company for the fiscal years ended December 31,2018 and December 31,2017, by Emst &
Young LLP, the Company’s principal accountant. All fees described below were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

Fiscal Year

Ended
2018 2017
(in thousands)
Audit Fees (1) $ 569 $ 664
Audit-related Fees — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total Fees $ 569 $ 664

(1) Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services by Erst & Young for audit and quarterly review of our financial statements
and review of our registration statements on Form S-3 and Form S-8, and related services that are normally provided in connection with
statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

In connection with the audit of each of the 2018 and 2017 financial statements, the Company entered into an engagement agreement with Emst &
Young which sets forth the terms by which Emst & Young will perform audit services for the Company. Such agreements are subject to alternative dispute
resolution procedures.

PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Audit Committee must pre-approve the audit and non-audit services rendered by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
Financial Statements. No financial statements are filed with this Amendment. These items were included as part of the Original Filing.

Financial Statement Schedules. Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required, not applicable, or the
information is otherwise included in the Original Filing.

Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the Original Filing are required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. A list of the exhibits filed with this Amendment are
provided below.

Exhibit Number Description

Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on

42 Form 10-Q (File No. 001-35670). filed with the SEC on November 9. 2018).

31.3 Certification ofthe Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

31.4 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0of 1934.
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Regulus Therapeutics Inc.

Date: April 29,2019 By: /s/ Daniel R. Chevallard

Daniel R. Chevallard
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.3

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph P. Hagan., certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Regulus Therapeutics Inc.; and

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

Date: April 29,2019 /s/ Joseph P. Hagan
Joseph P. Hagan
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.4

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel R. Chevallard, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Regulus Therapeutics Inc.; and

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

Date: April 29,2019 /s/ Daniel R. Chevallard
Daniel R. Chevallard
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




